The Vault

https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2013-09-04

An analysis of the risk of readmission or death following patient discharge from the intensive care unit

Hosein, F Shaun

Hosein, F. S. (2013). An analysis of the risk of readmission or death following patient discharge from the intensive care unit (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. doi:10.11575/PRISM/24832 http://hdl.handle.net/11023/911 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

An analysis of the risk of readmission or death following patient discharge

from the intensive care unit

by

F Shaun Hosein

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL SCIENCE

CALGARY, ALBERTA

AUGUST, 2013

© F Shaun Hosein 2013

Abstract

Introduction: The discharge of patients from the intensive care unit (ICU) to a hospital ward is a common transition of care that is associated with error and adverse events. Further identification of risk stratification tools, risk factors and overall adverse event rates may help identify high-risk patients and improve the ICU discharge process.

Methods: Ovid EMBASE, Ovid MEDLINE, CINAHL, PUBMED and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials were searched from the earliest available date through March 2013, plus reference lists and citations of all studies included in the systematic review. Data were extracted on the study design, setting, population, sample size, tool and outcomes.

Results: The literature search identified 9,926 citations, of which 58 studies identifying eight tools and 41 risk factors met the inclusion criteria. Reported outcomes included ICU readmission and post-ICU mortality .We were able to determine a pooled ICU readmission rate of 6.3%(95% CI 5.5-7.2%). and post-ICU mortality rate of 7.4% (95% CI 6.6-8.2%). Pooling of identified risk factors facilitated the development of two ICU discharge meta-prediction models, which were tested in a local database yielding areas under receiver operator curves ranging from 0.72 to 0.97. **Conclusions:** Eight risk stratification tools and 41 risk factors were identified from systematic review. Two meta-prediction models were developed and tested; yielding promising results, but further optimization is warranted. Although risk stratification tools may help clinician decision-making, further evaluation of the existing tools' effects on care is required prior to clinical implementation. The identification of pooled adverse event rates from systematic review is proposed to serve as ICU benchmarks, contributing to improvement of ICU quality of patient care.

ii

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible if not for the support and contributions of numerous people. I would like to thank Dr. Tom Stelfox for his excellent supervision, guidance and support. There were very hard times in the past two years and I appreciate your time and effort, it has certainly been a pleasure working with you.

I would like to also thank my supervisory committee Dr. William Ghali and Dr. David Zygun. Your experience, insight and suggestions have certainly improved the scope and potential of this work.

I would like to acknowledge the efforts and contributions of Niklas Bobrovitz and Dr. Simon Berthelot. Your help to review articles and extract data was invaluable in finishing this thesis. I would also like to thank Dr. Daniel Niven for his help and advice with using the TRACER ICU database.

I would like to thank Dan Lane and Jamie Boyd, your friendship, help and advice really helped with making it through these past two years.

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Figures and Illustrations	vii
List of Symbols. Abbreviations and Nomenclature	viii
Chapter One: INTRODUCTION	1
Chapter Two: BACKGROUND	3
2.1 Quality of Health Care	3
2.2 Adverse Events and Transitions of patient care	4
2.3 The Intensive Care Unit Discharge process	4
2.4 Structure of the ICU Discharge process: Risk Factors	5
2.5 Structure of the ICU Discharge process: Clinical Decision Making Tools	6
2.6 Objective	7
Chapter Three: METHODS	8
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Data sources and search strategy	8
3.3 Article Selection	0
3.4 Data Extraction	
3.5 Analysis of Identified Tools	10
3.6 Analysis of Identified Risk Factors	11
3.7 Analysis of Identified Outcome Rates	11
3.8 Development of a meta tool to predict adverse events post ICU discharge	11
3.9 Validation of developed ICU-discharge prediction models	12
Chapter Four: RESULTS	15
4.1 Article Screening and Selection	15
4.2 Article Characteristics and Quality	15
4.3 Description of Risk Stratification Tools	16
4.4 Risk Factor Analysis	17
4.5 ICU Discharge Adverse Outcome Rate analysis	18
4.6 Development of ICU-discharge prediction models	19
4.7 Validation of developed ICU-discharge prediction models	19
Chapter Five: DISCUSSION	23
5.1 Key Findings	23
5.2 Relevance to existing scientific literature	25
5.3 Limitations	27
5.4 Further Research	29
5.5 Conclusion	32
BIBLIOGRAPHY ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFI	NED.

Table of Contents

APPENDIX A: SAMPLE SEARCH STRATEGY	59
APPENDIX B: LIST OF RISK FACTORS WITH MULTIVARIATE ESTIMATES	61
APPENDIX C: ODDS RATIO ESTIMATES FROM TRACER DATABASE	70

List of Tables

Table 1. Characteristics of Included Studies	33
Table 2. Quality of Included Studies	34
Table 3. Identified Risk Stratification Tools	35
Table 4. Pooled ICU Readmission Risk Factors from Systematic Review	36
Table 5. Pooled Post-ICU Mortality Risk Factors from Systematic Review	37
Table 6. Stratification of Overall Outcomes Post- ICU Discharge	38
Table 7. Proposed meta-tools and scoring	39
Table 8. Mean Value of Characteristics for Patients within TRACER database	40
Table 9. Operationalized Prediction Model definitions for TRACER testing	41
Table 10. Results from Testing of Prediction Models in TRACER database	42

List of Figures and Illustrations

Figure 1. Study Flow	. 43
Figure 2. Semi-Qualitative Analysis of Post-ICU Discharge Risk Factors	. 44
Figure 3. Post-ICU Discharge Readmission Proportion Outcome	. 45
Figure 4. Post-ICU Discharge Mortality Proportion Outcome	. 46
Figure 5. Linear Regression Analysis of Simple-Model	. 47
Figure 6. Linear Regression Analysis of Coefficient-Model	. 48
Figure 7. TRACER Receiver Operating Curve Analysis of Prediction Models	. 49

List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature

Symbol	Definition
APACHE	Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation
AUROC	Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve
CI	95% Confidence Interval
CVICU	Cardiovascular Intensive Care Unit
GCS	Glasgow Coma Scale
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IOM	Institute of Medicine
LOS	Length of Stay
MET	Medical Emergency Team
MIR	Minimizing ICU Readmission Score
OR	Odds Ratio
ROC	Receiver Operator Curve
SAPS	Simplified Acute Physiology Score
SOI	Severity of Illness
SWIFT	Stability and Workload Index for Transfer Score

Chapter One: INTRODUCTION

The 21st century has brought many changes to the way we view health care. In a world with shrinking health care budgets and resources there has been efforts to maximize use and allocation of these limited resources. Quality of care and patient safety are areas of improvement that have a large effect on health care, and consequently on health care budgets and resources¹. A significant proportion of hospitalized patients experience harm from adverse and avoidable events, which translates into increased health care burden and ultimately cost. Therefore, maximizing quality of care and patient safety functions to improve health care and patient wellness, as well as minimizing harm and cost burden on the health care system^{2,3}.

Transitions of care within the hospital have been identified as periods where patients are susceptible to harm and severe adverse events. The two largest transitions of care periods occur at discharge from the intensive care unit (ICU) and discharge from hospital. Since these processes liberate both hospital and ICU beds it is no surprise that these events are intimately linked to health care economics and resource allocation. Generally the discharge process is associated with changes to the patient's treatment team, medication and level of care⁴. Specifically at ICU discharge these changes represent a large drop in the level of care, where ICU patients are transitioned from a highly monitored ICU ward to the lower care general ward area. Since the ICU patient is critically ill and already possess a higher baseline mortality rate, it is no surprise that ICU discharge is associated with a spectrum of adverse events; ranging from death to readmission to medical emergency team activation (MET)^{5,6}.

In the interest of maintaining a standard of high quality care and patient safety there has been motivation to identify risk factors that are associated with increased mortality and readmission post ICU discharge⁷⁻⁹. There have also been attempts to formalize this process by developing a clinical decision-making tool, to support the ICU discharge process¹⁰⁻¹². However, to date there has not been a formal systematic assessment of risk factors and clinical decision making tools associated with adverse events post ICU discharge.

The goals of this thesis are to identify risk factors and tools that are associated with ICU discharge. This information would be used to develop and improve the ICU discharge process. This knowledge would contribute to the overall improvement of health quality and minimization of patient harm within the modern ICU.

Chapter Two: BACKGROUND

2.1 Quality of Health Care

The Institute of Medicine (IOM) estimated that in 2009 the US health care budget was approximately 2.5 trillion dollars and growing yearly. In an already strained economy this cost burden and growth illustrates the need to control health care spending, while increasing efficiency and quality¹³. The IOM further determined that the current health care system is ineffective, and in order to increase health care quality the system requires change¹⁴.

One of the identified areas for improvement in health care quality and safety is inefficient delivery of care that can result in adverse events and harm. The Harvard malpractice study found that adverse events occur in 3.7% of patients discharged from hospital, and approximately 1.0% of these events are avoidable. The most common adverse events were related to drug complication, wound infection and technical complications, with all of these events occurring more frequently in patients older than 64 years of age. Ultimately, the study found that overall management errors accounted for 58% of all adverse events and were, in all instances, preventable¹⁵.

A similar Canadian study reported an overall 7.5% adverse event rate, with 36.9% being preventable, and 20.8% resulting in mortality. They calculated that these events result in an extra 1521 hospitalization days, and that management errors were the primary contributor¹⁶. These studies highlight the need to improve patient quality of care and safety, since this would function to not only improve healthcare; it would also reduce costs associated with inefficient care.

2.2 Adverse Events and Transitions of patient care

Adverse events are associated with transitions of patient care. Hospitalized patients undergo various transitions of care, between one service to another (such as emergency department admitting patients to the hospital), from one organization to another (hospital) services discharging patients to the community) and between providers (physician's daily night and morning handover). While some transitions may be simple and the level of care continuous, some involve a significant drop in the level of care provided. This is illustrated through the discharge of a patient from the hospital or from the intensive care unit (ICU) to the general ward. Analysis of the discharge process from hospital to home has found that half the patients experience a medical error while 19-23% suffer an adverse event, primarily related to drug prescription. To improve this transition the following areas have been identified as: Physician discontinuity between hospital and the community, medication reconciliation, increased self care and social support needs, inefficient patient and physician communication⁴. Similar areas have been identified in an observational study investigating physician handover in the ICU discharge process. These results suggest that transitions from ICU to the general hospital ward are inefficient and require improvements to minimize harm¹⁷. ICU patients have been shown to have higher hospital mortality and lengths of stay, which illustrates a gap and warrants further quality improvement measures and research within this population 9,18 .

2.3 The Intensive Care Unit Discharge process

An ICU is a specialized ward within the hospital that deals with critically ill patients. ICUs provide a higher degree of care than the general hospital ward, however, the high level of patient care does not come without high costs. In today's economy with cut backs to health care systems and shrinking hospital budgets, an ICU bed is a scare resource, and its effective management is paramount ^{19,20}.

The ICU discharge process has traditionally been guided by the on-duty Intensive Care specialist's (Intensivist) clinical judgment. Patients should be discharged when they are clinically stable and can safely tolerate the drop in the level of their health care provision. However, this transition is unstructured and can be associated with a spectrum of adverse events, ranging from mortality, to readmission and medical emergency team activation. These adverse events can occur from numerous factors, such as hospital-system based (ex: bed availability), patient based (ex: age) and ICU discharge process based (ex: medicine reconciliation). It has been shown that patients whom were either discharged prematurely or to an unsuitable location, both of which are factors associated with the ICU discharge process, have experienced the adverse event of ICU readmission^{21,22}. Such events have shown to not only increase hospital length of stay (LOS), but also to increases in hospital mortality, and overall cost to the system⁶. It is therefore important to fully understand these factors that contribute to adverse events post-ICU discharge.

2.4 Structure of the ICU Discharge process: Risk Factors

Risk factors associated with adverse events post-ICU discharge consistently include increasing age, ICU length of stay, male gender and the presence of patient comorbid conditions^{6,22-24}. A recent meta-analysis by Frost et al. identified a relationship between increasing severity of illness and the risk of readmission regardless of what point in time the measurement was taken during the ICU stay ²⁵. However, this meta-analysis was focused solely on the outcome of readmission and did not take into account mortality and MET team activation.

Currently there has been no attempt to systematically identify and evaluate all risk factors associated with the spectrum of adverse events post-ICU discharge.

2.5 Structure of the ICU Discharge process: Clinical Decision Making Tools

Clinical prediction rules assist with clinical decision making by functioning to suggest a diagnostic test or a particular course of treatment. They can also predict the probability of disease or a specific clinical outcome. These rules are derived from multivariate analysis and undergo rigorous validation and testing methodology before they are ready for clinical use. Standards have developed to help and guide the development of effective and high quality clinical prediction rules. These standards range from description of outcome, to description of study site, to reproducibility of results ^{26,27}. We however intend to employ a slightly different and novel methodology in the development of our ICU discharge rule, where the derivation of the component variables will be based on results of meta-analysis and not multivariate analysis.

Ultimately ICU discharge is a clinical decision, which should incorporate clinical information and current knowledge to produce an evidence-based decision. There are numerous tools or scores that function to aid in the clinical decision making process in specific circumstances. Classic examples of these include the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health (APACHE) scoring system²⁸, and the Ottawa ankle rules. The Ottawa rules were developed to address the issue of radiography in acute ankle injuries presenting to an Emergency Department²⁹, this rule now has now been recognized and implemented in daily clinical practice internationally³⁰.

There have been attempts to develop a score that can aid with ICU discharge decisionmaking. The Stability and Workload Index for Transfer (SWIFT) score is an ICU discharge score that the following variables for assessment: ICU length of stay, patient admission source, Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood [PaO₂]/ fraction of inspired oxygen [FIO₂], and nursing demand for complex respiratory care. This score was validated over a period of one year and was found to have a higher discrimination power for ICU readmission than the APACHE III score³¹. However, it has limitations in that it was developed to predict readmission but not mortality, missing half of the adverse event spectrum.

2.6 Objective

At present time there has been no formal attempt to systematically identify risk prediction tools/scores, risk factors and overall adverse event outcome rates associated with the full spectrum of adverse events post ICU discharge. Therefore the focus of this thesis will be to identify these tools, risk factors and outcome rates by conducting a systematic review. This information will then be used to derive a meta-prediction model, which will be tested in a local ICU database. This thesis will contribute to improving the efficiency and structure of the ICU discharge process by addressing the issue of improving the quality of health care provided in the modern ICU and minimizing harm to critically ill patients post ICU discharge.

Chapter Three: METHODS

3.1 Introduction

To better understand what is currently known about the ICU discharge structure, process and outcome we conducted a systematic review to identify: 1) tools that stratify patient risk of severe adverse events following ICU discharge, 2) risk factors that are associated with severe adverse event post-ICU discharge. We conducted a sub-analysis of systematic review results to determine overall adverse event rates post-ICU discharge. Results from systematic review served to inform the development of meta-predication models that utilized two scoring methodologies. These tools were tested within a local ICU database (TRACER) to determine overall ability to predict both readmission and mortality post-ICU discharge.

3.2 Data sources and search strategy

We conducted a systematic search of articles in Ovid EMBASE, Ovid MEDLINE, CINAHL, PUBMED, and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials from inception to March 2013. Searches were performed without year or language restrictions, and used combinations of the following three groups of terms: intensive care unit, patient discharge, and severe adverse event (medical emergency team [MET] activation or ICU readmission or mortality). The search strategy for MEDLINE database is depicted in Appendix A. We also searched references in the bibliographies of retrieved articles and performed a citation search of all studies included in the systematic review (i.e. articles citing studies included in the systematic review). Search strategies were constructed with the help of an experienced information scientist (DL), and all citations were imported to an electronic database (Endnote X3, Thomson Reuters, New York, NY).

3.3 Article Selection

Two authors independently reviewed titles and abstracts (SH, SB) for all studies identified in the search, followed by full text review of articles (SH, NB) identified by either reviewer as meeting inclusion criteria. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion between the reviewers. Kappa values and their 95% confidence intervals were calculated for agreement between authors.

We selected all articles that: 1) evaluated a tool or scoring system (clinical prediction rule) designed to predict severe adverse events following patient discharge from ICU or 2) examined one or more risk factors for severe adverse events after ICU discharge. We defined a risk factor as a patient, provider or institutional characteristic that can be identified before patient discharge from ICU, and is associated with severe adverse events following patient discharge from ICU. We defined severe adverse events as any ICU readmission, mortality or medical emergency team (MET) activation during a patient's hospital stay following discharge from ICU. MET activation was defined as emergency activation of an on-call resuscitation team for hospitalized patients experiencing a life-threatening event (e.g. decreased level of conscious).

Minimum inclusion criteria were (1) articles that examined one or more risk factors for severe adverse events after ICU discharge. We defined a risk factor as a patient, provider or institutional characteristic that can be identified before patient discharge from ICU, and is associated with severe adverse events following patient discharge from ICU (2) original research describing derivation, validation or evaluation of the clinical impact of a tool that could be used at ICU discharge to identify patients at risk of adverse events, (3) the study population were adult patients (majority patients >16 years), (4) at least one adverse event (MET activation, ICU

readmission or mortality) was reported, and (5) the adverse event occurred after ICU discharge, but during the same hospitalization as the index ICU admission. We included only cohort studies and controlled trials. Case-control studies, case series, and case reports were excluded. Systematic reviews were excluded, but their reference lists were hand-searched for relevant articles. Studies examining discharge from a high dependency or step-down unit were excluded.

3.4 Data Extraction

Two reviewers independently performed data abstraction and quality assessments. We analyzed the abstracted data according to validated guidelines for narrative synthesis ³²⁻³⁵. Reviewer consensus was required for inclusion of results. We extracted data describing study purpose, design, setting (country, type of ICU), sample size, study population (age, sex, illness severity), risk stratification tool (components, measurement properties), and outcomes (MET activation, ICU readmission, hospital mortality). Information extracted about risk factors included the name, definition, outcome examined, reported measures of association (odds ratios, risk ratios), their 95% confidence intervals and p-values. Study quality was evaluated using 11 pre-specified criteria: eligibility criteria described, definition of cohort timing, comorbidities reported, multivariate adjustment for potential confounders, ethics approval reported, complete follow-up, demographics described, severity of illness score reported, study duration reported, sample size calculation reported, and study limitations were reported. Studies that satisfied six or more of the criteria were classified as high quality.

3.5 Analysis of Identified Tools

Studies that identified a predictive model for ICU discharge were grouped according to outcomes measured. We compared each tool according to: model derivation and validation, operating characteristics, and individual components/variables. Pooling of quantitative data was not possible due to the limited number of evaluations of individual risk stratification tools.

3.6 Analysis of Identified Risk Factors

Due to the heterogeneity, identified risk factors were classified as broadly as possible for the purpose of frequency counts. Each risk factor was scored as to its presence in each identified study. These counts were summarized, and all risk factors that were multivariate adjusted and had a count greater than one were selected for further analysis (Appendix B). We attempted to pool estimates using a DerSimonian and Laird random effects model. Heterogeneity between studies was assessed using the I^2 statistic and a p-value<0.1 was selected as evidence of statistical heterogeneity. Pooled risk factors with 95% confidence intervals estimates that did not cross one were considered to be significant.

Analysis was conducted using Stata statistical software 11.0 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas).

3.7 Analysis of Identified Outcome Rates

The primary analysis focused on describing the rates of readmission to ICU and hospital mortality for patients discharged alive from ICU. Readmission to ICU and post-ICU mortality rates were calculated using raw event (total number of events) and study population (total

number of patients discharged alive from ICU) data from each article. Studies that did not report raw data were excluded from analysis. Authors were contacted in an attempt to gather missing data. Outcome rates were pooled using both DerSimonian and Laird random effects and Mantel-Haenszel fixed effects models.

Statistical heterogeneity was examined using the I-squared (I²) statistic, wherein a p-value < 0.05 and an I² > 50% indicated the presence of heterogeneity among the included studies. To examine for potential sources of heterogeneity between studies, the analysis was repeated using stratified analyses. The pre-defined subgroups for these secondary analyses were geographic region (North America, Europe, Australasia, other), ICU type (medical-surgical, cardiovascular, other), patient characteristics (age <60 vs. \geq 60 years, predicted mortality <10% vs. \geq 10% according to illness severity score) and study characteristics (patients with do-not-resuscitate goals of care included, adjustment for confounding factors, duration of follow up < 21 vs. >21 days, sample size < 1000 patients vs. \geq 1000 patients, number of ICUs 1 vs. > 1, and composite measure of study quality).

All data analysis was conducted using Stata statistical software 11.0 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas).

3.8 Development of a meta-tool to predict adverse events post ICU-discharge

Two predictive models from pooled systematic review risk factors were developed, a simple model and a coefficient model. There were a total of 19 risk factors that were translated to component variables; seven of these risk factors were associated both ICU readmission or post-ICU mortality, eleven were associated with ICU readmission and only one was associated with

post-ICU mortality. To deal with various severity of illness (SOI) scores in clinical practice we derived a SOI predicting > 10% mortality variable based on the pooled ORs (per point) of APACHE II, SAPS II and SOFA scores that corresponded to this mortality rate. The simple model scored the presence of each of these identified risk factors as one, with a final patient score being generated from the sum of individual patient risk factors scores. The coefficient model scored patients by multiplying the pooled beta-coefficients of the identified risk factors by the presence or value of that risk factor, deriving a final patient score from the sum of individual patient risk factor scores.

3.9 Validation of developed ICU-discharge prediction models

The TRACER database used for validation included all consecutive adult patients whom were admitted and subsequently discharged from Calgary regional Intensive Care units from the year 2002 until 2011. Patients whom died in ICU were excluded from the analysis. Only initial admission data for patients whom were readmitted was used, subsequent readmission data during hospital stay was excluded. Ethics approval was received from the University of Calgary research ethics board. The database did not contain any identifiable patient data.

Variables were generated based on demographic, physiological, and clinical data collected during ICU admission. Outcomes after a patient's first ICU discharge included ICU readmission and in-hospital death. ICU Readmission was defined as a discharge to an area that provided a lower level of care followed by a return to the ICU during the same hospital stay. A combined outcome was generated using the summation of data from the ICU readmission and post-ICU mortality variables. All outcome variables were binary coded. Odds Ratios were generated from

the TRACER database using STATA for each variable identified from meta-analysis and all three outcomes (Appendix C).

Coefficient model variables were generated from the product of meta-analysis beta-coefficients and the relevant TRACER risk factor variable. Simple model variables were generated from scoring one point for the presence of the relevant meta-analysis risk factor variable. The coefficient and simple model variables were independently summated to generate a unique variable for the respective model. These variables contained the unique score for each patient within the TRACER database, and were further analyzed with the following outcomes: ICU readmission, post-ICU mortality, and Combined outcome. Tables were created which tabulated model variables with each outcome; this data was then plotted and analyzed using linear regression techniques in STATA and Excel. Logistic regression and Receiver Operator Curve (ROC) analysis was done using STATA, where the three outcomes of ICU Readmission, Post-ICU mortality and Combined outcome were used as dependent variables.

Chapter Four: **RESULTS**

4.1 Article Screening and Selection

We initially identified 9926 articles from five databases; of these we identified 148 articles for full text review, and selected 58 articles for final inclusion (Figure 1)^{7-12,15-18,28,36-82}. Common reasons for exclusion of articles during full-text review were that articles did not report original research, did not report study outcomes (MET activation, ICU readmission, hospital mortality), and were not related to ICU discharge. We achieved good inter-rater agreement for full-text review (kappa=0.84, 95% CI 0.67-1.00).

4.2 Article Characteristics and Quality

Table one summarizes the characteristics of the articles included. Year of publication ranged from 1986 to 2013. The most frequent countries of publication were the United States (n=12), Australia (n=6), United Kingdom (n=8), Canada (n=6) and Germany (n=4). The majority of studies were conducted in mixed medical/surgical ICUs (n=35), with fewer conducted in cardiac ICUs (n=7), or sole medical (n=4), or surgical ICUs (n=3). The number of patients in each study ranged from 86 to 704,963 with a total of 2,075,610 patients included in the review.

The mean age of patients was 59.65 ± 5.4 years among the 44 studies that reported a mean age. A variety of severity of illness measures were used (e.g. APACHE II, SAPS II) with some reporting median and others mean scores. Overall mortality reported among these studies was 8.2% and overall readmission was 6.4%. No studies reported medical emergency team activation as a severe adverse event. Table two summarizes the quality of the included studies. The majority of studies included patients with do-not-resuscitate orders (n=42), used multivariable adjustment (n=49) and included only one ICU (n=33) in their data analysis. In total, 21 studies reported risk factors for ICU readmission, 25 for post-ICU mortality, and 12 for both ICU readmission and post-ICU mortality.

4.3 Description of Risk Stratification Tools

Table three describes the eight risk stratification tools identified. The Sabadell score and the tool developed by Daly *et al.* were designed to predict hospital mortality following ICU discharge. Reini *et al.* evaluated the ability of the Modified Early Warning Score (MEWS) to predict ICU readmission within 72 hours of discharge. The Stability and Workload Index for Transfer (SWIFT) score and the Frost nomogram were developed to predict ICU readmission following ICU discharge. The Minimizing ICU Readmission (MIR) score was designed to predict the combined outcome of patient death or ICU readmission seven days post-ICU discharge. Badawi and Breslow developed two tools to respectively predict readmission and mortality 48 hours post-ICU discharge. All tools except the Sabadell score incorporated between 5 and 26 variables into their risk calculation with length of ICU stay the only common variable appearing in most tools. The Sabadell score was calculated by physician judgment of patient prognosis at the time of ICU discharge using a four-point scale.

Evaluations of internal and external validity were reported for most tools. The calculated area under the receiver operating characteristic curves (AUROC) ranged from 0.66 to 0.92, with the

Badawi and Breslow mortality tool having the highest reported AUROC (0.92). The sensitivity, specificity and likelihood ratios were reported or could be calculated for all the tools except the Frost nomogram. Gajic *et al.* compared the SWIFT score to the APACHE III score (AUROC 0.75 vs. 0.62, P < 0.01) at the time of patient discharge from ICU. Ouanes *et al.* similarly compared the MIR score, SWIFT score and Simplified Acute Physiology Score II (AUROC 0.74 vs. 0.61 vs. 0.64).

We did not identify any studies evaluating the impact of risk prediction on processes and outcomes of care.

4.4 Risk Factor Analysis

In total we identified 788 unique risk factors with heterogeneous definitions. In order to deal with this heterogeneity we further classified these risk factors into 17 broader definitions. Figure two summarizes the number of studies in which individual risk factors were reported for either readmission or mortality. The risk factors most commonly reported in studies were severity of illness (n=52), surgical patient (n=33), out of hours discharge (n=31), age (n=26), and mechanical ventilation (n=20). All risk factors identified were reported to be associated with increased risk of readmission or mortality post-ICU discharge.

The pooled estimates for risk factors with multivariate adjusted measures of association reported in two or more studies are summarized in Tables four and five for ICU readmission and Post-ICU mortality respectively. Twenty-six risk factors were associated with ICU readmission while 15 risk factors were associated with post-ICU mortality. There were risk factors that were not significant, six were associated with ICU readmission and four were associated with post-ICU mortality. Significant risk factors associated with both ICU readmission and post-ICU mortality included APACHE II score, age, length of ICU stay and out of hours discharge. The total number of studies used to derive pooled estimates ranged from two to twelve, and included between 3,601 and 469,077 patients. Significant risk factors with the strongest association with readmission were: ICU readmission (OR 5.43 CI 5.14-5.74), gastrointestinal surgery (OR 3.39 CI 1.98–5.8), and mechanical ventilation > 24 hours (OR 3.04 CI 1.61-5.17). Significant risk factors with the strongest association with post-ICU mortality were: do not resuscitate (OR 4.99 CI 2.97-8.36), chronic liver disease (OR 2.73 CI 1.04-7.16) and sepsis (1.85 CI 1.48-2.32). The only significant risk factor reported to be associated with a reduced risk of death was cardiac surgery (OR 0.11 CI 0.06-0.19).

4.5 ICU Discharge Adverse Outcome Rate analysis

Outcome rates were pooled using fixed and random effects modeling for readmission to ICU and hospital mortality for patients discharged alive from ICU are summarized in Figure four and Figure five respectively. In patients discharged alive from ICU the fixed effect pooled rate of readmission to ICU during the same hospitalization was 5.3 readmissions per 100 patients (95% CI, 5.2 - 5.3 readmissions per 100 patient discharges), while the random effect pooled rate was 6.3 readmissions per 100 patients (95% CI, 5.5 - 7.2 readmissions per 100 patient discharges). In patients discharged alive from ICU the fixed effect pooled hospital mortality during the same hospitalization was 4.5 deaths per 100 patients (95% CI, 4.4 - 4.5 deaths per 100 patient discharges), while the random effect pooled nate was 7.4 deaths per 100 patients (95% CI, 6.6 - 100 patients (95% CI, 6.6 - 100 patients).

8.2 deaths per 100 patient discharges). Heterogeneity was high amongst these estimates, with I^2 values ranging from 99.7 %- 99.9% and p<0.001 for all estimates.

The stratified pooled rates of readmission to ICU and hospital mortality for patients discharged alive from ICU are summarized in Table six according to pre-defined characteristics. The stratified analyses provided different estimates of the pooled rates of readmission to ICU and hospital mortality for patients discharged alive from ICU. This analysis was aimed at further explaining the observed heterogeneity within the overall pooled estimates, but the majority of stratifications yielded similar estimates. This is best demonstrated by the stratifications for: mean age greater than 60 years, and studies that included only one ICU unit. Examples of stratified estimates that were much lower than the overall pooled estimates were observed for the following: CVICU, North American and Australian/ New Zealand ICUs. While some stratifications yielded higher estimates: Severity of illness less than 10%, Studies with less than 1000 patients and ICU units in Europe and other regions.

4.6 Development of ICU-discharge prediction models

Two predictive models were developed from systematic review. These models were based on two scoring systems, a simple score and a score based on beta-coefficients from pooled odds ratios (Table seven). The development of these models is described in the methods section.

4.7 Validation of developed ICU-discharge prediction models

The TRACER database used contained a total of 33,293 ICU admissions, however 5538 admissions were excluded due to ICU mortality. 1661 admissions were excluded due to

readmission, since patients readmitted to ICU have a higher risk of adverse event occurrence, and represent a different population of ICU patients. This resulted in a total of 26,094 patients that were eligible for analysis. Table eight shows the overall mean characteristics of these patients, with stratification for ICU readmission (1661 patients) and post-ICU mortality (1687 patients). The overall readmission rate was 6.37% and post-ICU mortality rate was 6.47 %. Overall patients were male, had a mean age of 64.4 years, an average length of stay (LOS) of 4.9 days and a mean APACHE II score of 21.1. Patients whom were readmitted tended to be slightly younger (61.2 years), were surgical patients (38.6%) and had a longer ICU admission (8.25 days). Patients whom died in hospital post-ICU discharge were slightly older (67.7 years), had a longer ICU admission (8.68 days), and tended to be medical admissions (38.4 %).

The operationalization of the two prediction models developed from systematic review is shown in table nine. Individual component variables are identified and how they were defined within the TRACER database is reported. Some variables were directly used, such as age and APACHE II score. Other variables required some interpretation, such as postoperative acute myocardial infarction, which was defined as any patient who was coded as a surgical admission and admission diagnosis was coded as an acute myocardial infarction. All variables present were used in the coefficient model, while the simple score required further generation of a binary age and length of stay variable. Missing data is also reported and ranged from 0.1 to 12.3%, where glucose metabolism dysfunction variable was associated with the most missing data. Due to limitations of the database some risk factors were not included, such as the chronic disease risk factors. Odds ratios were calculated for all component variables (Appendix C).

Linear regression was performed to examine the relationship between the predictive models and outcomes of ICU readmission, post-ICU mortality, and combined. Figure five shows regression modeling for the simple model, where scores ranged from zero to nine, and outcomes ranged from zero to one. There is an increasing trend demonstrated for all three outcomes as the score increases. The number of patients that corresponded to each score value is also shown, where there is clustering of values from the score of one to five (1424, 5967, 7376, 4259, 2094 patients, respectively). The lowest number of patients occurred at the extremities of the scale, where a score of nine, eight and zero were respectively associated with five, 35 and 75 patients. Table 10 shows R² values that were associated with each model. The simple model had better values that ranged from 0.64 to 0.76, while the coefficient model had values that ranged from 0.18 to 0.54. Figure six shows similar data regarding linear regression analysis for the coefficient model with the post-ICU outcomes. The coefficient model was based on scores ranging from zero to 11 and outcomes ranging from zero to one. There is little linear trend observed for all outcomes as the score increases for the outcomes of ICU readmission and Combined. These outcomes do show some clustering around score values of four, five and six related. The outcome of post-ICU Mortality does show an initial linear association from scores zero to five, but higher scores did not continue this trend. Looking at the number of patients associated with each score value, there is a rapid increase from zero to one (404 to 14148 patients), and then a gradual decrease of patients as scores decrease. There were no patients associated with a score of ten.

Logistic regression was also done to explore the relationship between the two prediction models and the three post-ICU outcomes. Resulting beta-coefficients, pseudo- R^2 values and ORs are shown in table 10. Estimates of pseudo- R^2 for the simple model ranged from 0.11-0.16, while the coefficient model had estimates ranging from 0.12-0.54. The highest pseudo-R² estimate of 0.54 was associated with the readmission outcome of the coefficient model. Beta coefficient values for the simple model ranged from 0.69-0.84, and the coefficient model had values from 0.92-2.65. Once again the highest beta-coefficient was associated with the readmission outcome of the coefficient model. The simple model had fairly modest OR, ranging from 2.00 to 2.32, with readmission having the highest estimate of 2.32 (95% CI 2.23-2.42). The beta-coefficient model produced much higher estimates, which ranged from 2.50 to 14.20, with readmission again having the highest estimate of 14.20 (95% CI 12.70-15.80). All calculated ORs were significant, with CI intervals not crossing one.

ROC analysis was conducted to further explore the relationship between the predictive models and outcomes of ICU readmission, post-ICU mortality, and Combined. Figure seven shows the ROC curves of each outcome shown in separate panels. Table 10 shows related ROC values and confidence intervals associated with this analysis. Overall the coefficient model performed better than the simple model, having area under the receiver operator curve (AUROC) values ranging from 0.75 (0.74-0.76) to 0.97(0.96-0.97). The simple model had AUROC values that ranged from 0.72 (0.71-0.74) to 0.79 (0.78-0.80). Both models best functioned to predict outcomes related to ICU readmission.

Chapter Five: **DISCUSSION**

5.1 Key Findings

Systematic review identified eight ICU discharge risk stratification tools evaluated in eight studies. Outcome parameters from these studies were ICU readmission, post-ICU mortality and a combination of both. All tools except the Sabadell score used patient physiological and clinical characteristics to calculate patient risk of severe adverse events following ICU discharge. The SWIFT score, Badawi and Breslow mortality tool and MIR score had the best reported operating characteristics for predicting ICU readmission, hospital mortality and the combined outcome of ICU readmission and hospital mortality, respectively. A single study compared two of the risk stratification tools. No studies reported MET activation following ICU discharge as an outcome, identifying an opportunity for evaluation in future studies.

We identified 788 risk factors associated with readmission and mortality post ICU discharge. No evaluations of risk factors associated with MET activation post –ICU discharge were identified. Multivariable adjusted estimates were reported in two or more studies for 41 risk factors allowing for pooled estimates, 26 were associated with ICU readmission, 15 were associated with post-ICU mortality, 11 were associated with both ICU readmission and mortality post ICU discharge.

We identified ICU readmission rates of 5.3 readmissions per 100 patients (95% CI, 5.2 - 5.3 readmissions per 100 patient discharges) based on fixed effects pooling and 6.3 readmissions per 100 patients (95% CI, 5.5 - 7.2 readmissions per 100 patient discharges) based on random

effects pooling. Post-ICU mortality rates were 4.5 deaths per 100 patients (95% CI, 4.4 - 4.5 deaths per 100 patient discharges) based on fixed effects pooling, and 7.4 deaths per 100 patients (95% CI, 6.6 - 8.2 deaths per 100 patient discharges) based on random effects pooling. Rates were derived from 58 studies capturing ICU data from Europe, Australia and the Americas. All associated I² values indicate a high degree of heterogeneity and further stratification of data did not identify any relevant clustering of data to explain heterogeneity. Both types of pooling are included to explore the differences between resulting estimates. While they both contain a high degree of heterogeneity, pooling using random effects would be more appropriate since study populations were composed of patients that were discharged from ICUs in different continents, countries, and cities. ICU clinical practice and procedures would vary at each of these geographic levels adding to the observed heterogeneity.

We developed and tested two post-ICU prediction models within a local ICU database. These models were based on risk factors and pooled odds ratios identified from systematic review, they used two unique scoring methodologies, a simple score and a score based on beta-coefficients of pooled odds ratios. Linear regression modeling for the simple score showed a relationship between the simple score and all outcomes, these relationships were not identified between the coefficient model and any outcome. ROC analysis yielded excellent AUROC values for both models, with the coefficient model out performing the simple model for prediction of all outcomes. The prediction of ICU readmission was much better than all other outcomes for both models, the simple model AUROC of 0.79 (0.78-0.80), and the coefficient model AUROC of 0.97(0.96-0.97).

5.2 Relevance to existing scientific literature

This work adds to the literature by highlighting an important gap in the science of patient care transitions from the ICU. It is unclear whether a reliable and valid risk stratification tool for patient discharge from ICU has been developed. We identified eight risk stratification tools, only two of which have been directly compared in a single study, where the MIR score had a better AUROC value than the SWIFT, although lower than those reported for the tools developed by Daly *et al.*, Fernandez *et al.* and Badawi and Breslow. Furthermore, only the MIR score is designed to predict both post-ICU discharge mortality and readmission. To complicate matters it is unclear which of these two outcomes is most relevant. These data suggest that the MIR score is promising, although its use of beta coefficients to calculate patient risk will make it difficult for clinicians to use outside of a computerized algorithm. The ICU discharge readiness scores developed by Badawi and Breslow have not been compared to other tools, and their proprietary nature may make independent evaluation challenging, but their derivation and evaluation in a large number of patients and ICUs suggests promise. This work related to ICU discharge tools and scores has recently been published ⁸³

We have also identified new risk factors previously not reported and risk factors associated with a broader scope of adverse events than previously explored. Rosenberg et al. conducted a review in 2000 that identified severity of illness scores, fever, hypoxia, elevated respiratory rate, admission diagnosis and age as risk factors associated with readmission. The authors also found several other, risk factors including elevated pCO₂, discharge hematocrit < 30%, and positive blood culture results that were not strongly correlated or inconsistently associated with readmission. They suggested that heterogeneity of risk factor definitions limited evaluation of

studies of ICU readmission²². Despite the publication of additional studies since this review, heterogeneity remains an important limitation within this body of literature.

There is a lack of synthesis of published ICU benchmark rates for readmission and post-ICU mortality. ICU readmission was initially identified by Cooper et al. as an important indicator that did not associate with ICU length of stay or patient SOI, it therefore captured other complimentary aspects of hospital related performance⁴⁴. Rosenburg et al. identified a readmission rate of 7.0% and suggested its use as a quality of care indicator⁹. We identify a similar random effect pooled rate of 7.4% that further supports the proposal that ICU readmission rate reflects a broader aspect of hospital performance. A qualitative review of ICU quality indicators identified both post ICU readmission and ICU mortality as potential ICU quality indicators. These authors further suggest further research to create and pilot test operational definitions is needed⁸⁴.

Our results provide both an operational definition and pilot testing of these definitions since our results are based on 58 studies that use retrospective data from 1479 ICUs and spans 27 years of research, which represents the population of patients discharged from ICU. We have further identified from the TRACER database an ICU readmission rate of 6.37% and a post-ICU mortality rate of 6.47%, rates that are both lower than the proposed benchmark rates. There are no studies to this date that has summarized this data using meta-analysis.

In a 2009 meta-analysis, Frost et al. pooled multiple severity of illness scores (ie. APACHE II, SAPS II) using standardized mean differences and determined increasing severity of illness to be

a significant predictor of ICU readmission. In their discussion the authors suggested more discriminating tools are necessary to specify which patients would most benefit from follow-up critical care from outreach teams²⁵. Our review builds towards this goal by identifying other potentially important independent risk factors for readmission and mortality that are not included in existing tools. We further mobilize this data by developing two prediction models that have shown promising results from testing within a local ICU database. These scores can directly be used clinically in the ICU, where a threshold of acceptable ICU readmission or post-ICU mortality would be set. Using our pooled overall scores these thresholds would be 6.3% and 7.4 % for ICU readmission and post-ICU mortality. Patients considered for discharge would be scored, and scores higher than the thresholds would be flagged for having a high risk of adverse event post-ICU discharge. This information can alert and support subsequent intensivist clinical decision-making concerning ICU discharge.

There are no studies that have used results from meta-analysis to derive a meta-prediction tool. This work provides a template for development of other meta-predication tools for other processes of care, such as hospital discharge.

5.3 Limitations

There are limitations to this research. It is possible our search was not completely exhaustive, despite our search of multiple databases using a comprehensive search strategy that was developed with the help of an expert health sciences librarian. However, it is unlikely we missed important risk factors that have been frequently studied. It was challenging to obtain accurate information from some publications. One article provided no raw data and as a result
transformations of risk ratios to odds ratios were not possible⁴². Additionally, some articles did not provide clear definitions of their risk factors. This lack of consistency in data reporting and risk factor definitions limits opportunities for pooling of data despite the representation of over 1 million patients in the included studies.

We found no studies of risk factors for MET activation following discharge from ICU. This represents an important gap in the literature given the growing role of ICU Outreach services and MET to facilitate patient transfer of care from ICU to medical and surgical hospital wards and to provide rescue care for patients who clinically deteriorate.

Our search was targeted at studies examining the relationship between risk factors and post-ICU readmission and death. Nevertheless, it is unlikely that the event rates would be different. The case-mix of patients included in identified studies may not represent the broader population of discharged ICU patients. It is possible that the patients from these research studies may have higher or lower event rates than patients discharged from ICUs not participating in research. The heterogeneity observed across the studies suggests that there may not be a single universal event rate.

Not all variables from proposed post-ICU prediction models were used in testing since the relevant data were not captured within the TRACER database. The addition of these variables to the database through database linking could affect the overall functioning of the models.

5.4 Further Research

There are numerous areas that can be explored form our results; in fact we have generated more questions than answers. One area of further work that needs to be done involves further testing and optimization of the two prediction models. Linking missing component variables from other databases, such as chronic disease conditions, would potentially alter the predictive performance of the models. Once predictive models have been successfully optimized they should be comparatively tested against the other identified prediction models. Such comparative testing within the same database has not been demonstrated in the literature.

Decision-support to provide reliable and valid risk stratification for patients discharged from ICU would be valuable to health practitioners involved in the care of ICU patients, both in the ICU and in the hospital ward. The use of the tool within the ICU would guide intensivist decisions regarding resource allocation (bed allocation, ICU outreach services), and patient safety (delay or acceleration of ICU discharge). The use of a tool post-ICU discharge by the receiving physician would provide insight into the patient's overall risk of severe adverse event occurring on the ward, and allow the receiving physician to allocate further resources to improve patient care and safety. This tool could also to inform patients and families about the risk associated with ICU discharge. Currently it is unclear how risk stratification tools compare to physician clinical judgment for identifying patients at increased risk of adverse events post-ICU. Clinical estimation is often based on subjective parameters and physicians can be overconfident in their predictive abilities ⁸⁵⁻⁸⁸. Independent risk stratification may provide clinicians with additional information to guide clinical decision-making, but further evaluation is required. To complicate

29

matters, patient populations can vary substantially between ICUs (for example, multisystem ICUs vs. subspecialty ICUs) suggesting that development of a tool that can be broadly applied across patient populations may be difficult ⁸⁹.

It is also unknown whether implementation of a risk stratification tool can improve processes and outcomes of care for patients. Laupacis et al. outlined evaluation criteria for clinical prediction rules. One, the tool needs to be validated to provide evidence of reproducible accuracy. Two, the tool needs to have sufficient predictive power to provide clinicians with confidence to use the results to guide decision-making. Three, the tool needs to be actually used by clinicians (easy to use whether using memory, paper-based tool or electronic tool) to change behaviour and improve patient outcomes. Ideally, an ICU discharge risk stratification tool would forecast patient outcomes and, therefore, facilitate the delivery of safe (for example, reduce premature ICU discharge for high risk patients), effective (for example, target transition resources to high risk patients) and efficient (for example, expedite ICU discharge for low risk patients) care. The prediction models identified and developed from our research satisfy the first two evaluation criteria. Since our developed prediction models were based on meta-data and not developed from a single ICU database, they have been successfully externally validated. However, prior to implementation, an impact analysis demonstrating evidence that risk stratification changes physician behaviour and improves patient outcomes is needed ²⁶.

There are implications to consider around the clinical use of an ICU discharge clinical tool. First, the development of the tool has been done in isolation, and there are other factors to consider within the clinical context of the overall functioning of an ICU. The most relevant issue is bed allocation, where there are competing pressures to discharge and admit patients ⁹⁰. The ICU discharge tool only affects one aspect of this process; it does not take into account patients awaiting admission to ICU. It has been shown that prolonged emergency department stay is associated with higher hospital mortality and hospital length of stay ⁹¹.

Second, the tool is largely composed of non-modifiable variables and only one modifiable variable, out of hours discharge, which leaves daytime and weekday discharge as the only option for improving a patient's discharge score. The knowledge of a patient's predicted outcome post-ICU is however still very important and useful. Further resources, such as ICU outreach follow-up can be tailored to patients with a poor predicted outcome. There have been numerous studies that have shown the effectiveness of this intervention on improving hospital outcomes ⁹²⁻⁹⁴.

While there are limited options for modifying a patient's risk score, there have been a few processes that affect ICU discharge that can be optimized. Medical reconciliation and physician communication at ICU discharge have been suggested as options for improvement and if optimized can provide better care to the critically ill. While these processes have not been identified in our study as specific risk factors for adverse events post-ICU discharge, they have been identified as areas to improve the ICU discharge process and patient care ⁹⁵⁻⁹⁸.

Overall there are some issues to address with the use of an ICU discharge tool within the clinical context. However, the knowledge of the risk factors that contribute to adverse outcomes post-ICU discharge is of extreme importance since furthers our basic understanding of the discharge process and critically ill patients on the whole. Most variables are available at admission to ICU,

and this prognostication is informative for not only the medical care team, but also patient's and their families ^{99,100}. Knowing what to expect from an ICU stay allows individuals to better understand and prepare for what events can likely occur, and can hopefully contribute to overall improved satisfaction of care ^{101,102}. There are numerous avenues of further research that have been identified from this body of work, all providing different aspects and knowledge about the ICU discharge process.

5.5 Conclusion

This thesis achieved four important tasks. First, it has identified eight risk stratification tools used to predict adverse events post-ICU discharge. Second, it has identified and pooled 41 risk factors that are associated with adverse events post-ICU discharge. Third, it has identified and pooled post ICU discharge adverse event estimates, and has proposed to further use these estimates as benchmarks for ICU performance. Fourth, it has successfully developed and tested two meta-prediction models for adverse events post-ICU discharge. Initial testing results were promising and further work to optimize and compare these models to the eight identified models is needed. It is important to note that these four achievements are novel, with no such work being identified within the literature. The addition of this work to the scientific literature is key to the further understanding and improvement of the ICU discharge structure, process and outcomes.

Study	Year	Countries	Follow-up	Type of ICU	ICU #	# of Patients	Age (Mean)	Female (%)	SOI Measure	SOI Score (Mean)	Readmission (%)	Mortality (%)	# RF
Yip	2013	Australia	34 months	Medical-Surgical	1	1446	50.2	35.7	APACHE II	19*	7.3	12.3	21
Badawi	2012	USA	ours post-ICU discha	Mixed	402	704963	62.1	45.9	APACHE IV	47	2.5	3.1	49
Reini	2012	Sweden	30 days	Medical-Surgical	1	518	60.6	25.4	SAPS III	61*	3.7	15.5	6
Araujo	2012	Portugal	Hospital Discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	296	64.7	43.0	SAPS2	43.7	4.7	22.6	17
Brown	2012	USA	21 days	Medical-Surgical	156	196250	N/A	N/A	MPMO-III	10.9	5.4	5	13
Kramer	2012	USA	hosptial discharge	Mixed	105	263082	61.5	n/a	APACHE IV	41.3	6.3	n/a	0
Joakowaik	2012	Germany	Hospital Discharge	Cardiovascular	1	7105	69.1	30.7	EuroSCORE	9	7.8	N/A	32
Timmers	2012	Netherlands	11 years	Medical-Surgical	1	1682	58.6	33.3	Apache 2	11.1	8	N/A	14
Mahesh	2012	UK	Hospital discharge	Cardiovascular	1	6101	N/A	27.8	EuroSCORE	7.6	N/A	0.39	1
Ranzani	2012	Brazil	hosptial discharge	Medical	1	409	48.6	49	APACHE II	16	n/a	18.3	7
Laupland	2012	France	hosptial discharge	Mixed	n/a	7380	62*	39	SAPS II	40*	N/A	24	15
Ouanes	2011	France	Hospital Discharge	Medical-Surgical	4	3462	60.6	38.3	SAPS II	35.1	3.3	3.2	3
Renton	2011	Australia	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	97	247103	59.9	N/A	APACHE III	47	5.5	5.3	16
Fernandez	2011	Spain	Hospital Discharge	Medical-Surgical	31	201	60.5	31	N/A	N/A	6	22	0
Kramer	2011	USA	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	38	229961	N/A	44.0	N/A	N/A	6	N/A	42
Silva	2011	Brazil	Hospital Discharge	Medical-Surgical	4	600	60.7	43.3	SAPS 2	25.5	9.1	N/A	11
Fernandez	2010	Spain	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	31	4132	61.5	33.6	N/A	N/A	4.6	5.9	18
Al-Subaie	2010	UK	14 days	Medical-Surgical	1	1185	60	45.1	APACHE II	16*	7	2.9	17
Utzolino	2010	Germany	Hospital discharge	Surgical	1	2558	62.1	36.4	N/A	N/A	9.7	3.1	2
Silvestre	2010	Portugal	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	156	55	40.4	APACHE II	14.6	N/A	18.6	1
Chrusch	2009	Canada	7 days	1 medical, 1 surgery	2	8222	59.3	N/A	APACHE II	18.6	5.2	0.3	30
Litmathe	2009	Germany	Hospital discharge	Cardiovascular	1	3374	74.3	30.3	N/A	N/A	5.9	N/A	25
Gajic	2008	USA, Netherlands	7 days	Medical	1	1242	N/A	45.8	APACHE III	59.2	8.1	0.4	10
Campbell	2008	UK	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	4376	63*	41.1	APACHE II	19*	8.8	11.2	72
Hanane	2008	USA	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	3	11659	62.7	46.8	APACHE III	51.3	9.1	4.5	3
Kaben	2008	Germany	Hospital discharge	Surgical	1	2852	62	35.9	SAPS I	33.5	13.3	5.6	35
Laupland	2008	Canada	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	4	17864	63.7*	26.6	APACHE II	25.1	N/A	6.7	13
Sakr	2008	Europe	60 days	N/A	198	1729	59.8	39.3	SAPS II	31.4	N/A	7.2	9
Ho	2007	Australia	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	603	53	N/A	APACHE II	15.7	2	4.3	21
Pilcher	2007	Australia/New Zealand	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	41	76690	59	N/A	APACHE III	46.3	5.3	5.8	3
Song	2007	Korea	54.4 months	N/A	1	1087	65	N/A	APACHE III	N/A	8.6	N/A	3
Alban	2006	USA	Hospital discharge	Surgical	1	10840	58.8	N/A	APACHE II	15.4	2.7	9.4	5
Mayr	2006	Austria	One year	Medical-Surgical	1	3347	59.2	28.6	SAPS II	37.6	3	4.3	5
Priestap	2006	Canada	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	31	47062	61.7	40.8	APACHE II	15.1	5.3	9.3	19
Tobin	2006	Australia	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	10963	64	35.0	APACHE II	13*	N/A	4.4	16
Fernandez	2006	Spain	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	1159	60.2	N/A	APACHE II	20*	N/A	9.6	21
Vohra	2005	LIK	Hospital discharge	Cardiovascular	1	7177	70.4	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.5	N/A	21
Azoulay	2005	France, Europe, Canada, Israel	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	28	1872	60*	37.4	SAPS II	35*	N/A	10.4	39
Yoon	2003	Korea	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	34	1929	55.5	35.8	APACHE III	N/A	4.1	18.8	6
Duke	2004	Australia	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	1870	62*	N/A	APACHE II	18.5	51	4.9	3
Fortis	2004	Greece	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	86	63	43.0	APACHE II	14	N/A	15.1	6
Kogan	2003	Israel	Hospital discharge	N/A	1	1613	63.5	N/A	N/A	N/A	3.3	0.4	5
Bardell	2003	Canada	Hospital discharge	Cardiovascular	1	2117	65	30.0	N/A	N/A	3.5	2.8	12
Metnitz	2003	Austria	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	30	15180	62.7	39.4	N/A	N/A	5.1	N/A	7
Uusaro	2003	Finland	Hospital discharge	N/A	18	20636	N/A	N/A	SAPS II	34	11.5	N/A	2
Azoulay	2003	France	Hospital discharge	#	7	1385	65*	36.5	SAPS II	36*	N/A	10.8	5
Calafiore	2003	Italy	Hospital discharge	Cardiovascular	1	1194	N/A	18.5	N/A	N/A	13	0.4	
Beck	2002	LIK	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	1654	57	38.3		18.3	7.6	12.6	10
Daly	2001	LIK	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	1	5475	N/A	30.5	APACHE II	13.7	2.6	3.7	17
Rosenherg	2001	LISA	Hospital discharge	Medical	1	3310	53	66.5	APACHE III	49	9.6	2.8	9
Moreno	2001	Netherlands	Hospital discharge	N/A	48	2958	N/A	N/A	SAPS II	30.1	N/A	8.6	16
Goldfrad	2001	LIK	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	62	12748	58.2	N/A	APACHE II	14.7	83	17.1	4
Cohn	1999	1150	Hospital discharge	Cardiovascular	38	22790	65.2	32.4	N/A	N/A	5.7	9.0	10
Cooper	1999		Hospital discharge	~	28	103968	63.5	48.0		14 3	6.1	N/A	17
Smith	1000	LIK	N/A	Medical-Surgical	1	203308	66	40.0		17*	7.9	11	1
Chen	1009	Canada	Hospital discharge	Medical-Surgical	7	5127	50.2	45.0		17.1	1.0	55	6
Rubins	1099		Hospital discharge	Medical	1	220	50.0	20.0		10.6	4.0	3.5	0
Strauce	1004		Hospital discharge	Medical Surgical	1	012	59.9	2.2 N/A		10.0 N/A	15.1	3	9
Sulauss	1300	USA	nospital discridige	wieuical-suigical	T	317	50	IN/A	Ara	IN/ A	10	3.3	4

Table 1. Characteristics of Included Studies

Abbreviations: APACHE, Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation; APS, Acute Physiology Score; ICU, Intensive Care unit; MICU, Medical Intensive Care Unit; MPMO-III, Mortality Probability Admission Model; N/A, Not Available; NICU, Neurosurgical Intensive Care Unit; RF, Risk Factor; SAPS, Simplified Acute Physiology Score; SICU, Surgical Intensive Care Unit; SIRS, Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome; UK, United Kingdom; USA, United States of America.

				Ethics	Follow-up	Demographics	DNR	Comorbidities		SOI Score	Eligibility	Power	Study	Limitations
Study	Year	Cohort timing	> 1 ICU	Approval Reported	complete	described	included	Assessed	Type of analysis	Used	Criteria Mentioned	Calculated	Duration Justified	discussed
Vin	2012	Petrospective	No	Voc	Voc	Voc	Voc	Vec	Multivariate	Voc	Voc	No	No	Voc
Joakowaik	2013	Retrospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Univariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Badawi	2012	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Reini	2012	Prospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Araujo	2012	Retrospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Brown	2012	Retrospective	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Kramer	2012	retrospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Univariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Timmers	2012	Prospective	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Mahesh	2012	Retrospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Unadjusted	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Ranzani	2012	Retrospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Laupland	2012	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Ouanes	2011	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Renton	2011	Retrospective	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Fernandez	2011	Prospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	NO	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	NO	NO	Yes
Silvo	2011	Brospective	Yes	Yes	NO	Yes	No	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No
Sliva Fernandez	2011	Prospective	Voc	No	Vec	Ves	Voc	Vec	Multivariate	Vec	Vec	Voc	Vec	Voc
Al-Subaie	2010	Prospective	No	Vec	Ves	Ves	No	No	Multivariate	Ves	Ves	Ves	Ves	Ves
Litzolino	2010	Retrospective	No	No	Ves	Ves	Ves	No	Univariate	Ves	Ves	No	No	Ves
Silvestre	2010	Retrospective	No	Vec	Ves	Ves	Vec	No	BOC	Ves	Ves	No	No	Ves
Chrusch	2009	Prospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Litmathe	2009	Retrospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Gaiic	2008	Prospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Campbell	2008	Retrospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Hanane	2008	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Kaben	2008	Retrospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Laupland	2008	Prospective	Yes	Yes	N/A	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Sakr	2008	Prospective	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Ho	2007	Prospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Pilcher	2007	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Song	2007	Retrospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Alban	2006	Prospective	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Mayr	2006	Prospective	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Priestap	2006	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Tobin	2006	Retrospective	NO	No	Yes	Yes	NO	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Fernandez	2006	Prospective	NO	NO	Yes	NO	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	NO	Yes	Yes
Vonra	2005	Brospective	Voc	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	NO	Yes	No	NO	NO
Azoulay	2005	Prospective	Vec	NO	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Univariate	Yes	Voc	No	No	Yes
Duke	2004	Prospective	No	Ves	Ves	No	Vec	No	Multivariate	Ves	Ves	Ves	Ves	Ves
Fortis	2004	Retrospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	No	Yes	No	No	No
Kogan	2004	Prospective	No	Yes	N/A	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	No	Yes	No	No	No
Bardell	2003	Retrospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	No	Yes	No	No	No
Metnitz	2003	Prospective	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Uusaro	2003	Retrospective	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Azoulay	2003	Prospective	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Calafiore	2002	Timing imprecise	e No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	No	Yes	No	No	No
Beck	2002	Retrospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Stratification	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Daly	2001	Retrospective	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Rosenberg	2001	Prospective	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Moreno	2001	Retrospective	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Goldfrad	2000	Retrospective	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Case mix	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Cohn	1999	Retrospective	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Mean comparisons	No	Yes	No	No	No
Cooper	1999	Retrospective	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Smith	1999	Prospective	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Chen	1998	Retrospective	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Multivariate	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Rubins	1988	Prospective	NO	Yes	Yes	Yes	NO	No	Multivariate	Yes	NO	NO	NO	Yes
Strauss	1986	retrospective	INO	INO	NO	NO	res	NO	wuttivariate	res	res	res	Yes	res

Abbreviations: DNR, Do Not resuscitate order; ICU, Intensive Care Unit; N/A, Not available; SOI, Severity of Illness; ROC Receiver Operating Characteristic Curves

Table 3. Identified Risk Stratification Tools

Author, Tool, Country Year	Tool Components/ Variables (Weighting/Points) Source of CU admission Objective DD 2 exten	Prediction Outcome (Follow-up) Readmission	Tool Development (# patients) Multivariate (1131)	Tool Validation (# patients/#ICU) Internal (7220)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	LR+ 3.09	LR- 0.56	AUROC (95% CI)
Gajic 'SWIFT Score' USA, 2008	(CU) length of a pr (2 to 10 dc 1 pr) 10 dc 4 pt) Last measured P402Fi02 ratio (10 to 395 5 pt, 100 to 149 + 10 pt, <100 - 13 pt) GCS at ICU discharge (11 to 14 c pt, 8 to 10 - 14 pt, <8: 24 pt) Last PaCO2 (>45 mmHg; 5 pt)	(/ days)	(1,151)	(755/1) External (708/1)	27	87	2.13	0.84	0.70 (0.64 to 0.76)
Frost Australia, 2010	Age (years: 0 to 8 pt) Male (2 pt) Elective admission (12 pt) Admission source (ED: 9 pt, Other hospital: 10 pt, Ward: 15 pt) APACHEI II socce (10 to 20 pt) ICU length of stay >7 days (17 pt) After hours discharge (4 pt) Renal fuilture (10 pt)	Readmission (Hospital Discharge)	Multivariate (14,952)	Internal [‡] (14,952/1)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.66 (n/a)
Reini Sweden, 2012	Pulse rate (0 to 3 pt) Respiratory rate (0 to 3 pt) Systolic blodd pressure (0 to 3 pt) Level of consciousness (0 to 3 pt) Temperature (0 to 2 pt)	Readmission (72 hours)	Existing Score	External (518)	15 ⁶	856	1.01 ⁶	0.995	OR 0.98 (0.69 to 1.37) [¶]
Badawi	23 variables ^λ	Readmission (48 hours)	Multivariate (469,967)	Internal (234,976/219)	6 to 96*	19 to 99*	1.19 to 5.72*	0.19 to 0.95 ^v	0.71 (0.71 to 0.71)
USA, 2012	26 variables [§]	Mortality (48 hours)	Multivariate (469,967)	Internal (234,976/219)	47 to 82 ^v	87 to 99 ⁹	6.44 to 55 ^w	0.20 to 0.53 ^y	0.92 (0.92 to 0.92)
Daly United Kingdom, 2002	f) coefficients' Age per year (0.052) Chronic Health Points (0.2501) ICU length of stay per day (0.0447) Acute Physiology points (0.1556) Cardiothoracis curgery (c.2.104) Constant (-4.5821)	Mortality (Hospital Discharge)	Multivariate (5,475)	Internal (1,136/1) External (7,313/19)	74	71	2.55	0.37	0.80 (0.79 to 0.81) ⁶
Fernandez 'Sabadell Score' Spain, 2006 and 2010	Subjective intensive care physician scoring: Good Prognosis (0) Poor long term prognosis, >6 months (1) Poor short term prognosis, <6 months (2) Death expected within hospitalization (3)	Mortality (Hospital Discharge)	Existing Score Modified	Internal (1,521/1) External (3,587/31)	23 to 87 26 to 85	79 to 99 71 to 99	4.14 to 23 2.93 to 26	0.16 to 0.78 0.21 to 0.75	0.88 (0.84 to 0.93) 0.84 (0.81 to 0.87)
Ouanes 'MIR' France, 2012	ß coefficients ⁷ SAPS II (dmission (0.017) Central venuus catheter (0.74) SIRS (max) (0.61) SOFA (discharge) (0.19) Discharge at night (0.92) Constant (5.59)	Readmission or mortality (7 days)	Multivariate (3,462)	Internal [‡] (3,462/4)	50 to 96ª	19 to 82ª	1.19 to 2.78ª	0.21 to 0.61"	0.74 (0.68 to 0.79)

Abbreviations: APACHE, Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation; AUROC, area under the receiver operating characteristic curves; ED, emergency department; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; ICU, Intensive Care unit; LR, likelihood ratio; MIR, Minimizing ICU Readmission; N/A, Not Available; SAPS, Simplified Acute Physiology Score; SIRS, Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome; SOFA, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score; SWIFT, Stability and Workload Index for Transfer; USA,

Store, System a manifestory response spinoline, SPTA, Sequencial organ ramit Assessment score, SWTT, stability and workload mode for transfer, OSA, United States of America.
Calculated using the Modified Early Warning Score on admission to ICU of <6 vs. ≥6.
Odds ratio for readmission to ICU within 72 hours of ICU discharge reported for each one point increase in the Modified Early Warning Score at the time of ICU discharge. The receiver operating characteristic curve not reported.

The receiver operating characteristic curve not reported. λ Readmission model variables: Admission characteristics (age), Elective surgery, ICU type, Admission diagnosis category, Admit source, ICU visit number, Body mass index, ICU interventions (number of lactate values in 24 hours, ICU length of stay), Last day labs, (serum bicarbonate, white blood cell count, serum creatinine, hemoglobin), Last day physiology (heart rate, respiratory rate, diastolic blood pressure, systolic blood pressure, percent oxygen, most recent Glasgow coma scale score). Ψ Range of sensitivities and specificities reported for four different thresholds of predicet readmission or mortality following ICU discharge ranging from 1% to 10%. § Mortality model variables: Admission characteristics (age, body mass index,) Operative diagnosis (elective surgery), ICU interventions (ICU length of stay, ventilation status), Last day labs (serum lactate, serum creatinine, white blood cell count, serum glucose), Last day physiology (diastolic blood pressure, heart rate, mean arterial pressure, respiratory rate, percent oxygen saturation, most recent Glasgow coma scale score). θ AUROC reported for combined data for internal and external validation cohorts. α Range of sensitivities, specificities and likelihood ratios reported for four different thresholds of the MIR score.

Readmission											
Risk Factor		# Studies	# Patients	Pooled OR	95%	6 CI	I squared	p value			
APACHE II*	For each additional point	5	22281	1.06	1.02	1.12	78.6	0.009			
SAPS II	For each additional point	2	250565	1.015	1.014	1.017	0	>0.001			
SOFA	For each additional point	3	7760	1.08	0.967	1.2	78.5	0.174			
Length of Stay	More than 3 days	3	21636	2.16	1.63	2.88	72.0	>0.001			
Length of Stay	Per day	4	448923	1.038	0.987	1.092	82.2	0.147			
Out of hours discharge*		7	469077	1.13	1.01	1.27	68.4	0.003			
Age*	For each additional year	9	48527	1.01	1.01	1.02	80.8	>0.001			
Gender	Male sex	5	39564	1.21	1.06	1.38	32.6	0.004			
Mechanical Ventilation	More than 24 hours	5	209885	3.04	1.61	5.71	96.2	0.001			
DNR		2	199512	0.751	0.128	4.395	97.7	0.75			
Admission from ED		2	17804	1.5	1.25	1.80	0	>0.001			
Acute Renal Failure	New Dialysis in ICU	2	18326	1.821	1.27	2.61	0	0.001			
Readmission to ICU		2	248262	5.43	5.14	5.74	0	>0.001			
Discharge to HDU/SDU		2	203307	1.36	1.29	1.43	0	>0.001			
Cardiac Surgery		3	13331	1.465	0.78	2.76	93.4	0.238			
Gastrointestinal Surgery		2	4534	3.39	1.98	5.8	0	>0.001			
Emergent Surgery		4	208263	1.482	0.97	2.26	93.7	0.068			
Post-operative Myocardial Infarction		2	10479	1.43	1.15	1.78	14.2	0.001			
Co-morbidities	Any co-morbid condition	4	292695	1.3	1	1.69	98.2	0.047			
Type II Diabetes		3	7672	1.6	1.22	2.08	24	0.001			
Chronic Renal Failure		5	209287	1.26	1.15	1.38	0	>0.001			
Cancer	Any type of cancer	2	6027	0.817	0.237	2.813	56.7	0.749			
Immunosuppressive disease		2	197648	1.35	1.14	1.61	0	>0.001			
Chronic Liver Disease	Cirrhosis, Hepatic failure	2	4756	2.33	1.75	3.1	0	>0.001			
Chronic Respiratory Disease	COPD	3	201022	1.32	1.2	1.45	0	>0.001			
Chronic Cardiovascular Disease	Hypertension, AF, CHF	5	18151	1.38	1.18	1.63	26.3	>0.001			

Table 4. Pooled ICU Readmission Risk Factors from Systematic Review

*More than one estimate from a single study Abbreviations: AF: Atrial Fibrillation, APACHE: Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation; CHF: Congestive Heart Failure, COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, DNR: Do Not Resuscitate, ED: Emergency Department, HDU: High Dependency Unit ICU: intensive Care Unit, SAPS: Simple Acute Physiology Score, SDU: Step-Down Unit, SOFA: Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score

			Mortality					
Risk Factor		# Studies	# Patients	Pooled OR	959	% CI	l squared	p value
APACHE II*	For each additional point	6	82690	1.071	1.036	1.108	98	>0.001
APACHE III	For each additional percentage of predicted mortality	2	88349	1.04	1.034	1.047	91.4	0.001
SAPS II	For each additional point	5	16808	1.03	1.02	1.04	56.2	>0.001
SOFA	For each additional point	7	16715	1.22	1.16	1.28	58.2	>0.001
Length of Stay	For each additional day	2	9851	1.047	1.022	1.072	0	0.717
Out of hours discharge*		8	201084	1.17	0.98	1.39	71.7	0.087
Age*	For each additional year	12	83925	1.08	0.98	1.19	99.8	0.113
Gender	Male sex	4	58940	1.19	1.05	1.37	38.1	0.009
DNR		3	20424	4.99	2.97	8.36	86.8	>0.001
Admission from Ward		2	4785	1.6	0.61	4.19	90.3	0.343
Sepsis		3	10981	1.85	1.48	2.32	0	>0.001
Cardiac Surgery		2	28827	0.11	0.064	0.19	77.1	>0.001
Chronic Respiratory Disease	COPD	2	9252	1.67	1.24	2.24	5.8	0.001
Chronic Cardiovascular disease	Hypertension, AF, CHF	2	8574	3.4	0.42	27.3	73.2	0.249
Chronic Liver disease	Cirrhosis, Hepatic failure	2	3601	2.73	1.04	7.16	73.0	0.041

Table 5. Pooled Post-ICU Mortality Risk Factors from Systematic Review

*More than one estimate from a single study

Abbreviations: AF: Atrial Fibrillation; APACHE: Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation; CHF: Congestive Heart Failure; COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; DNR: Do Not Resuscitate; ED: Emergency Department; HDU: High Dependency Unit ICU: intensive Care Unit; SAPS: Simple Acute Physiology Score; SDU: Step-Down Unit, SOFA: Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score

	Readmission		Mortality			
	(2023336 nation	ntc)	(1225279 natie	nts)		
	(202000 patien	Study (p)	Droportion	Study (n)		
Overall Pooled Estimate	0.063 (0.055 to 0.072)	25 AS	0.074 (0.066 to 0.082)	25 AS		
Geographic Region	0.000 (0.000 to 0.072)	-15	0.074 (0.000 to 0.002)	-13		
North America	0.069 (0.054 to 0.085)	16	0.046 (0.031 to 0.061)	12		
Furope	0.062 (0.047 to 0.077)	20	0.096 (0.073 to 1.200)	24		
Australia / New Zealand	0.049 (0.034 to 0.065)	4	0.057 (0.051 to 0.063)	6		
Other Regions	0.061 (0.037 to 0.086)	4	0.119 (0.000 to 0.257)	3		
ICU type						
Medical Surgical ICU	0.062 (0.051 to 0.072)	26	0.084 (0.072 to 0.097)	28		
Cardiovascular ICU	0.044 (0.024 to 0.065)	6	0.001 (0.003 to 0.018)	4		
Other ICU Type	0.077 (0.061 to 0.093)	12	0.080 (0.060 to 0.100)	13		
Patient Characteristics						
SOI predicted >10% mortality	0.058 (0.049 to 0.067)	27	0.086 (0.076 to 0.096)	29		
SOI predicted <10% mortality	0.090 (0.085 to 0.094)	4	0.052 (0.038 to 0.066)	13		
Age <60	0.078 (0.067 to 0.089)	13	0.103 (0.083 to 0124)	13		
Age>60	0.062 (0.048 to 0.076)	21	0.071 (0.061 to 0.081)	19		
Study Characteristics						
DNR patients included	0.061 (0.051 to 0.071)	32	0.081 (0.067 to 0.094)	12		
DNR patients excluded	0.069 (0.055 to 0.083)	12	0.065 (0.051 to 0.079)	33		
High Study Quality	0.065 (0.054 to 0.077)	33	0.081 (0.072 to 0.090)	37		
Low Study Quality	0.059 (0.047 to 0.070)	11	0.041 (0.025 to 0.058)	8		
Adjusted for confounding factors	0.062 (0.051 to 0.072)	39	0.071 (0.066 to 0.082)	39		
Not Adjusted for confounding factors	0.073 (0.067 to 0.079)	5	0.074 (0.066 to 0.082)	6		
Follow-up >21 days	0.061 (0.056 to 0.066)	39	0.083 (0.072 to 0.094)	41		
Follow-up <21 days	0.068 (0.017 to 0.118)	5	0.016 (0.000 to 0.082)	4		
Patient number <1000	0.074 (0.053 to 0.095)	7	0.106 (0.083 to 0.128)	9		
Patient number >1000	0.061 (0.055 to 0.072)	37	0.070 (0.059 to 0.081)	36		
Multiple ICU study	0.049 (0.033 to 0.065)	10	0.082 (0.057 to 0.108)	10		
Single ICU study	0.067 (0.059 to 0.076)	34	0.075 (0.064 to 0.087)	35		

Table 6. Stratification of Overall Outcomes Post- ICU Discharge

Abbreviations:DNR, Do Not Resuscitate; ICU, Intensive Care Unit; SOI, Severity of Illness;

Table 7. Proposed meta-tools and scoring

Variable	Simple Score	Coefficient Score
Previous Readmission to ICU	1	1.691939134
Gastrointestinal Surgery	1	1.220829921
Mechanical Ventilation (> 3 days)	1	1.111857515
Chronic Liver Disease	1	0.925084938
Septic Shock	1	0.615185639
Acute Renal Failure	1	0.599385801
Type II Diabetes	1	0.470003629
Admission from Emergency Department	1	0.405465108
Chronic Lung Disease	1	0.395227682
Post-operative Myocardial Infarction	1	0.357674444
Chronic Cardiovascular Diease	1	0.322083499
Discharge to HDU/SDU	1	0.3074847
Immunosuppressive disease	1	0.300104592
Chronic Renal Failure	1	0.231111721
Male	1	0.19062036
Out of hours discharge	1	0.122217633
Length of Stay (per day)	1	0.045928932
Severity of Illness Score predicting >10% mortality	1	0.042580448
Age (per yr)	1	0.009950331

Abbreviations : HDU, High Dependancy Unit; ICU, Intensive Care Unit; SDU, Step Down Unit;

Characteristic	Overall (n=26094)	Readmission (n=1661)	Mortality (n=1687)
Age	64.4	61.2	67.7
Length of Stay (days)	4.90	8.25	8.68
Female (%)	35.6	35.7	43.0
APACHE II Score	21.1	21.7	23.5
Medical Admission (%)	29.7	31.0	38.4
Surgical Admission (%)	38.6	39.5	25.0
Overall Post ICU Outcome (%)	N/A	6.37	6.47

Table 8. Mean Value of Characteristics for Patients within TRACER database

Abbreviations: APACHE, Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation; ICU, Intensive Care Unit.

Table 9. Operationalized Prediction Model definitions for TRACER testing

Variables Used	Operationalized Definition	Coefficient Model	Simple Model	% missing data
Previous Readmission to ICU	Readmission variable	1	1	N/A
Age (per 15 yr)	ICU Demographic data	✓	> 65years old	0.21
Male	ICU Demographic data	✓	1	0.1
Admission from Emergency Department	Admission Source data	✓	1	0.1
Length of Stay (per day)	ICU admision and discharge dates	✓	>5 days	1.9
Severity of Illness Score predicting >10% mortality	Max admission APACHE II (>9)	✓	1	N/A
Acute Renal Failure	CRRT or Admission definiton of ARF or Cr >150	✓	1	4.8
Sepsis/ Infection	Admission definiton of Sepsis/ Infection	✓	✓	N/A
Glucose metabolism dysfunction	Glucose on admission >11mmol/L	✓	1	12.3
Post-operative Myocardial Infarction	Surgical Admission + AMI	1	1	N/A
Gastrointestinal Surgery	Surgical Admission + GI surgery admission definition	1	1	N/A

Abbreviations: AMI, Acute Myocardial Infarction; APACHE, Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation; ARF, Acute Renal Failure; CR, Creatinine; CRRT, Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy; GI, Gastrointestinal; Intensive Care unit; N/A, Not Available;

	Simple Model			
Parameter	Outcome	Estimate	95% CI	
1 in our Decreasion \mathbf{p}^2	Readmission	0.76	-	
Linear Regression R	Mortality	0.64	-	
value	Combined	0.74	-	
Logistic Degression	Readmission	0.16	-	
Logistic Regression	Mortality	0.11	-	
pseudo-k value	Combined	0.15	-	
Logistic Dograssion Data	Readmission	0.84	0.80-0.89	
Logistic Regression Beta	Mortality	0.69	0.65-0.73	
Coefficient	Combined	0.79	0.76-0.83	
Logistic Degracion Odda	Readmission	2.32	2.23-2.42	
Logistic Regression Odds	Mortality	2.00	1.91-2.08	
Ratio (per point)	Combined	2.22	2.14-2.30	
Area Under the Dessiver	Readmission	0.79	0.78-0.80	
Area Under the Receiver	Mortality	0.72	0.71-0.74	
Operator Curve	Combined	0.76	0.75-0.77	
	Coefficient Mod	el		
Parameter	Outcome	Estimate	95% CI	
Linear Pegrossion P ²	Readmission	0.12	-	
	Mortality	0.21	-	
value	Combined	0.57	-	
Logistic Dogrossion	Readmission	0.54	-	
nseudo-P ² value	Mortality	0.12	-	
pseudo-re value	Combined	0.33	-	
Logistic Dograssion Data	Readmission	2.65	2.54-2.76	
Coefficient	Mortality	0.92	0.86-0.97	
coentcient	Combined	1.80	1.73-1.86	
Logistic Pograssian Odds	Readmission	14.20	12.70-15.80	
Ratio (ner point)	Mortality	2.50	2.37-2.63	
	Combined	6.02	5.67-6.41	
Area Under the Becaiver	Readmission	0.97	0.96 - 0.97	
Area Under the Receiver	Mortality	0.75	0.74-0.76	
	Combined	0.86	0.85-0.87	

 Table 10. Results from Testing of Prediction Models in TRACER database

Abbreviations: CI, Confidence interval

Figure 1. Study Flow



Figure 2. Semi-Qualitative Analysis of Post-ICU Discharge Risk Factors







Fixed Effect model 0.053 (0.053 – 0.054)



I.

15

NOTE: Weights are from random effects

B) Random Effect model 0.063 (0.055 – 0.072)

Figure 4. Post-ICU Discharge Mortality Proportion Outcome













Figure 6. Linear Regression Analysis of Coefficient-Model



Figure 7. TRACER Receiver Operating Curve Analysis of Prediction Models



BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. BAKER GR, NORTON PG, FLINTOFT V, ET AL. THE CANADIAN ADVERSE EVENTS STUDY: THE INCIDENCE OF ADVERSE EVENTS AMONG HOSPITAL PATIENTS IN CANADA. *CMAJ.* MAY 25 2004;170(11):1678-1686.
- 2. BRENNAN TA, LEAPE LL, LAIRD NM, ET AL. INCIDENCE OF ADVERSE EVENTS AND NEGLIGENCE IN HOSPITALIZED PATIENTS. RESULTS OF THE HARVARD MEDICAL PRACTICE STUDY I. *N ENGL J MED*. FEB 7 1991;324(6):370-376.
- 3. CHAO S, IMPROVEMENT FOTSOHCQ, IMPLEMENTATION IOM. CREATING A BUSINESS CASE FOR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT RESEARCH: EXPERT VIEWS, WORKSHOP SUMMARY. THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS; 2008.
- 4. KRIPALANI S, JACKSON AT, SCHNIPPER JL, COLEMAN EA. PROMOTING EFFECTIVE TRANSITIONS OF CARE AT HOSPITAL DISCHARGE: A REVIEW OF KEY ISSUES FOR HOSPITALISTS. *J HOSP MED*. SEP 2007;2(5):314-323.
- 5. LI P, STELFOX HT, GHALI WA. A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY OF PHYSICIAN HANDOFF FOR INTENSIVE-CARE-UNIT-TO-WARD PATIENT TRANSFERS. *AM J MED*. SEP 2011;124(9):860-867.
- 6. CAMPBELL AJ, COOK JA, ADEY G, CUTHBERTSON BH. PREDICTING DEATH AND READMISSION AFTER INTENSIVE CARE DISCHARGE. BRITISH JOURNAL OF ANAESTHESIA.100 (5) (PP 656-662), 2008.DATE OF PUBLICATION: MAY 2008. 2008(5):MAY.
- 7. BROWN SE, RATCLIFFE SJ, KAHN JM, HALPERN SD. THE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF INTENSIVE CARE UNIT READMISSIONS IN THE UNITED STATES. *AM J RESPIR CRIT CARE MED*. MAY 1 2012;185(9):955-964.
- 8. KRAMER AA, HIGGINS TL, ZIMMERMAN JE. INTENSIVE CARE UNIT READMISSIONS IN U.S. HOSPITALS: PATIENT CHARACTERISTICS, RISK FACTORS, AND OUTCOMES. *CRIT CARE MED.* SEP 15 2011.
- 9. ROSENBERG AL, HOFER TP, HAYWARD RA, STRACHAN C, WATTS CM. WHO BOUNCES BACK? PHYSIOLOGIC AND OTHER PREDICTORS OF INTENSIVE CARE UNIT READMISSION. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. MAR 2001;29(3):511-518.
- 10. DALY K, BEALE R, CHANG RW. REDUCTION IN MORTALITY AFTER INAPPROPRIATE EARLY DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE UNIT: LOGISTIC REGRESSION TRIAGE MODEL. *BMJ.* MAY 26 2001;322(7297):1274-1276.
- 11. FERNANDEZ R, BAIGORRI F, NAVARRO G, ARTIGAS A. A MODIFIED MCCABE SCORE FOR STRATIFICATION OF PATIENTS AFTER INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE: THE SABADELL SCORE. *CRITICAL CARE (LONDON, ENGLAND).* 2006;10(6):R179.

- 12. GAJIC O, MALINCHOC M, COMFERE TB, ET AL. THE STABILITY AND WORKLOAD INDEX FOR TRANSFER SCORE PREDICTS UNPLANNED INTENSIVE CARE UNIT PATIENT READMISSION: INITIAL DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. 2008;36(3):676-682.
- 13. BARKER RC, FLINT NJ. CONSEQUENCES OF TIME OF DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE ON MORTALITY AND READMISSION RATES IN A UK UNIVERSITY TEACHING HOSPITAL. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. 2010;36:S164.
- 14. CHAO S, IMPROVEMENT FOTSOHCQ, IMPLEMENTATION IOM. *CREATING A BUSINESS CASE FOR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT RESEARCH: EXPERT VIEWS, WORKSHOP SUMMARY.* THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS; 2008.
- 15. AZOULAY E, ADRIE C, DE LASSENCE A, ET AL. DETERMINANTS OF POSTINTENSIVE CARE UNIT MORTALITY: A PROSPECTIVE MULTICENTER STUDY. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. 2003;31(2):428-432.
- 16. ALBAN RF, NISIM AA, HO J, NISHI GK, SHABOT MM. READMISSION TO SURGICAL INTENSIVE CARE INCREASES SEVERITY-ADJUSTED PATIENT MORTALITY. *JOURNAL OF TRAUMA*. 2006;60(5):1027-1031.
- 17. AZOULAY E, ALBERTI C, LEGENDRE I, BUISSON CB, LE GALL JR. POST-ICU MORTALITY IN CRITICALLY ILL INFECTED PATIENTS: AN INTERNATIONAL STUDY. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. 2005;31(1):56-63.
- 18. KRAMER AA, HIGGINS TL, ZIMMERMAN JE. THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN ICU READMISSION RATE AND PATIENT OUTCOMES. *CRIT CARE MED.* JAN 2013;41(1):24-33.
- 19. DASTA JF, MCLAUGHLIN TP, MODY SH, PIECH CT. DAILY COST OF AN INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DAY: THE CONTRIBUTION OF MECHANICAL VENTILATION. *CRIT CARE MED.* JUN 2005;33(6):1266-1271.
- 20. LANKEN PN, TERRY PB, OSBORNE ML. ETHICS OF ALLOCATING INTENSIVE CARE UNIT RESOURCES. *NEW HORIZ*. FEB 1997;5(1):38-50.
- 21. COOPER GS, SIRIO CA, ROTONDI AJ, SHEPARDSON LB, ROSENTHAL GE. ARE READMISSIONS TO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT A USEFUL MEASURE OF HOSPITAL PERFORMANCE? *MED CARE*. APR 1999;37(4):399-408.
- 22. ROSENBERG AL, WATTS C. PATIENTS READMITTED TO ICUS* : A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF RISK FACTORS AND OUTCOMES. *CHEST*. AUG 2000;118(2):492-502.
- 23. RENTON J, PILCHER DV, SANTAMARIA JD, ET AL. FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED RISK OF READMISSION TO INTENSIVE CARE IN AUSTRALIA. *INTENSIVE CARE MED*. AUG 16 2011.
- 24. VASILEVSKIS EE, KUZNIEWICZ MW, CASON BA, ET AL. PREDICTORS OF EARLY POSTDISCHARGE MORTALITY IN CRITICALLY ILL PATIENTS: A RETROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY FROM THE CALIFORNIA INTENSIVE CARE OUTCOMES PROJECT. *JOURNAL OF CRITICAL CARE*. FEB 2011;26(1):65-75.

- 25. FROST SA, ALEXANDROU E, BOGDANOVSKI T, ET AL. SEVERITY OF ILLNESS AND RISK OF READMISSION TO INTENSIVE CARE: A META-ANALYSIS. *RESUSCITATION*. MAY 2009;80(5):505-510.
- 26. LAUPACIS A, SEKAR N, STIELL IG. CLINICAL PREDICTION RULES. A REVIEW AND SUGGESTED MODIFICATIONS OF METHODOLOGICAL STANDARDS. *JAMA*. FEB 12 1997;277(6):488-494.
- 27. WASSON JH, SOX HC, NEFF RK, GOLDMAN L. CLINICAL PREDICTION RULES. APPLICATIONS AND METHODOLOGICAL STANDARDS. *N ENGL J MED.* SEP 26 1985;313(13):793-799.
- 28. BECK DH, MCQUILLAN P, SMITH GB. WAITING FOR THE BREAK OF DAWN? THE EFFECTS OF DISCHARGE TIME, DISCHARGE TISS SCORES AND DISCHARGE FACILITY ON HOSPITAL MORTALITY AFTER INTENSIVE CARE. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. SEP 2002;28(9):1287-1293.
- 29. STIELL IG, GREENBERG GH, MCKNIGHT RD, NAIR RC, MCDOWELL I, WORTHINGTON JR. A STUDY TO DEVELOP CLINICAL DECISION RULES FOR THE USE OF RADIOGRAPHY IN ACUTE ANKLE INJURIES. *ANN EMERG MED.* APR 1992;21(4):384-390.
- 30. SEAH R, MANI-BABU S. MANAGING ANKLE SPRAINS IN PRIMARY CARE: WHAT IS BEST PRACTICE? A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF THE LAST 10 YEARS OF EVIDENCE. *BR MED BULL*. 2011;97:105-135.
- 31. GAJIC O, MALINCHOC M, COMFERE TB, ET AL. THE STABILITY AND WORKLOAD INDEX FOR TRANSFER SCORE PREDICTS UNPLANNED INTENSIVE CARE UNIT PATIENT READMISSION: INITIAL DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. MAR 2008;36(3):676-682.
- 32. GREENHALGH T. META-NARRATIVE MAPPING: A NEW APPROACH TO THE SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF COMPLEX EVIDENCE. *NARRATIVE RESEARCH IN HEALTH AND ILLNESS*: BLACKWELL PUBLISHING LTD; 2008:349-381.
- 33. ARAI L, BRITTEN N, POPAY J, ET AL. TESTING METHODOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE CONDUCT OF NARRATIVE SYNTHESIS: A DEMONSTRATION REVIEW OF RESEARCH ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SMOKE ALARM INTERVENTIONS. *EVIDENCE AND POLICY*. 2007;3(3):361-383.
- 34. RODGERS M, SOWDEN A, PETTICREW M, ET AL. TESTING METHODOLOGICAL GUIDANCE ON THE CONDUCT OF NARRATIVE SYNTHESIS IN SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS. *EVALUATION*. JANUARY 1, 2009 2009;15(1):49-73.
- 35. POPAY J RH, SOWDEN A, PETTICREW M, ARAI L, RODGERS M, BRITTEN N, ROEN K, DUFFY S. *GUIDANCE ON THE CONDUCT OF NARRATIVE SYNTHESIS IN SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS: A PRODUCT OF THE ESRC METHODS PROGRAMME (VERSION I).* LANCASTER: INSTITUTE OF HEALTH RESEARCH;2006.
- **36.** AL-SUBAIE N, REYNOLDS T, MYERS A, ET AL. C-REACTIVE PROTEIN AS A PREDICTOR OF OUTCOME AFTER DISCHARGE FROM THE INTENSIVE

CARE: A PROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY. *BR J ANAESTH*. SEP 2010;105(3):318-325.

- 37. ARAUJO I, GONCALVES-PEREIRA J, TEIXEIRA S, ET AL. ASSESSMENT OF RISK FACTORS FOR IN-HOSPITAL MORTALITY AFTER INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE. *BIOMARKERS : BIOCHEMICAL INDICATORS OF EXPOSURE, RESPONSE, AND SUSCEPTIBILITY TO CHEMICALS.* MAR 2012;17(2):180-185.
- 38. BADAWI O, BRESLOW MJ. READMISSIONS AND DEATH AFTER ICU DISCHARGE: DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF TWO PREDICTIVE MODELS. 2012; 11:E48758. AVAILABLE AT: <u>HTTP://OVIDSP.OVID.COM/OVIDWEB.CGI?T=JS&PAGE=REFERENCE&D=PRE</u> M&NEWS=N&AN=23144958. ACCESSED 101285081, 7.
- **39.** CALAFIORE AM, SCIPIONI G, TEODORI G, ET AL. DAY 0 INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE - RISK OR BENEFIT FOR THE PATIENT WHO UNDERGOES MYOCARDIAL REVASCULARIZATION? *EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CARDIO-THORACIC SURGERY*. MAR 2002;21(3):377-384.
- 40. CAMPBELL AJ, COOK JA, ADEY G, CUTHBERTSON BH. PREDICTING DEATH AND READMISSION AFTER INTENSIVE CARE DISCHARGE. *BJA: THE BRITISH JOURNAL OF ANAESTHESIA*. 2008;100(5):656-662.
- 41. CHEN LM, MARTIN CM, KEENAN SP, SIBBALD WJ. PATIENTS READMITTED TO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DURING THE SAME HOSPITALIZATION: CLINICAL FEATURES AND OUTCOMES. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. NOV 1998;26(11):1834-1841.
- 42. CHRUSCH CA, OLAFSON KP, MCMILLAN PM, ROBERTS DE, GRAY PR. HIGH OCCUPANCY INCREASES THE RISK OF EARLY DEATH OR READMISSION AFTER TRANSFER FROM INTENSIVE CARE. *CRIT CARE MED.* OCT 2009;37(10):2753-2758.
- 43. COHN WE, SELLKE FW, SIROIS C, LISBON A, JOHNSON RG. SURGICAL ICU RECIDIVISM AFTER CARDIAC OPERATIONS. *CHEST*. SEP 1999;116(3):688-692.
- 44. COOPER GS, SIRIO CA, ROTONDI AJ, SHEPARDSON LB, ROSENTHAL GE. ARE READMISSIONS TO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT A USEFUL MEASURE OF HOSPITAL PERFORMANCE? *MED CARE*. APR 1999;37(4):399-408.
- 45. DUKE GJ, GREEN JV, BRIEDIS JH. NIGHT-SHIFT DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE UNIT INCREASES THE MORTALITY-RISK OF ICU SURVIVORS. *ANAESTHESIA & INTENSIVE CARE*. OCT 2004;32(5):697-701.
- 46. FERNANDEZ R, SERRANO JM, UMARAN I, ET AL. WARD MORTALITY AFTER ICU DISCHARGE: A MULTICENTER VALIDATION OF THE SABADELL SCORE. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. JUL 2010;36(7):1196-1201.
- 47. FERNANDEZ R, TIZON AI, GONZALEZ J, ET AL. INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE TO THE WARD WITH A TRACHEOSTOMY CANNULA AS A RISK FACTOR FOR MORTALITY: A PROSPECTIVE, MULTICENTER PROPENSITY ANALYSIS. *CRIT CARE MED.* OCT 2011;39(10):2240-2245.

- 48. FORTIS A, MATHAS C, LASKOU M, KOLIAS S, MAGUINA N. THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTION SCORING SYSTEM-28 AS A TOOL OF POST ICU OUTCOME PROGNOSIS AND PREVENTION. *MINERVA ANESTESIOL*. JAN-FEB 2004;70(1-2):71-81.
- 49. GOLDFRAD C, ROWAN K. CONSEQUENCES OF DISCHARGES FROM INTENSIVE CARE AT NIGHT. *LANCET*. 2000;355(9210):1138-1142.
- 50. HANANE T, KEEGAN MT, SEFERIAN EG, GAJIC O, AFESSA B. THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN NIGHTTIME TRANSFER FROM THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT AND PATIENT OUTCOME. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. 2008;36(8):2232-2237.
- 51. HO KM, LEE KY, DOBB GJ, WEBB SA. C-REACTIVE PROTEIN CONCENTRATION AS A PREDICTOR OF IN-HOSPITAL MORTALITY AFTER ICU DISCHARGE: A PROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. 2008;34(3):481-487.
- 52. JOSKOWIAK D, WILBRING M, SZLAPKA M, ET AL. READMISSION TO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT AFTER CARDIAC SURGERY: A SINGLE-CENTER EXPERIENCE WITH 7105 PATIENTS. 2012; 5:671-676. AVAILABLE AT: <u>HTTP://OVIDSP.OVID.COM/OVIDWEB.CGI?T=JS&PAGE=REFERENCE&D=MED</u> L&NEWS=N&AN=22406963. ACCESSED HMF. 0066127. 53.
- 53. KABEN A, CORREA F, REINHART K, ET AL. READMISSION TO A SURGICAL INTENSIVE CARE UNIT: INCIDENCE, OUTCOME AND RISK FACTORS. *CRITICAL CARE (LONDON, ENGLAND)*. 2008;12(5):R123.
- 54. KOGAN A, COHEN J, RAANANI E, ET AL. READMISSION TO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT AFTER "FAST-TRACK" CARDIAC SURGERY: RISK FACTORS AND OUTCOMES. *ANNALS OF THORACIC SURGERY*. AUG 2003;76(2):503-507.
- 55. LAUPLAND KB, MISSET B, SOUWEINE B, ET AL. MORTALITY ASSOCIATED WITH TIMING OF ADMISSION TO AND DISCHARGE FROM ICU: A RETROSPECTIVE COHORT STUDY. *BMC HEALTH SERVICES RESEARCH.* 2011;11:321.
- 56. LAUPLAND KB, SHAHPORI R, KIRKPATRICK AW, STELFOX HT. HOSPITAL MORTALITY AMONG ADULTS ADMITTED TO AND DISCHARGED FROM INTENSIVE CARE ON WEEKENDS AND EVENINGS. *JOURNAL OF CRITICAL CARE*. 2008;23(3):317-324.
- 57. LITMATHE J, KURT M, FEINDT P, GAMS E, BOEKEN U. PREDICTORS AND OUTCOME OF ICU READMISSION AFTER CARDIAC SURGERY. *THORAC CARDIOVASC SURG*. OCT 2009;57(7):391-394.
- 58. MAHESH B, CHOONG CK, GOLDSMITH K, GERRARD C, NASHEF SA, VUYLSTEKE A. PROLONGED STAY IN INTENSIVE CARE UNIT IS A POWERFUL PREDICTOR OF ADVERSE OUTCOMES AFTER CARDIAC OPERATIONS. *ANN THORAC SURG*. JUL 2012;94(1):109-116.
- 59. MAYR VD, DUNSER MW, GREIL V, ET AL. CAUSÉS OF DEATH AND DETERMINANTS OF OUTCOME IN CRITICALLY ILL PATIENTS. *CRITICAL CARE (LONDON, ENGLAND).* 2006;10(6):R154.

- 60. METNITZ PGH, FIEUX F, JORDAN B, LANG T, MORENO R, GALL JR. CRITICALLY ILL PATIENTS READMITTED TO INTENSIVE CARE UNITS -LESSONS TO LEARN? *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. 2003;29(2):241-248.
- 61. MORENO R, MIRANDA D, MATOS R, FEVEREIRO T. MORTALITY AFTER DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE: THE IMPACT OF ORGAN SYSTEM FAILURE AND NURSING WORKLOAD USE AT DISCHARGE. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. 2001;27(6):999-1004.
- 62. OUANES I, SCHWEBEL C, FRANCAIS A, ET AL. A MODEL TO PREDICT SHORT-TERM DEATH OR READMISSION AFTER INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE. *JOURNAL OF CRITICAL CARE*. DEC 13 2011.
- 63. PILCHER DV, DUKE GJ, GEORGE C, BAILEY MJ, HART G. AFTER-HOURS DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE INCREASES THE RISK OF READMISSION AND DEATH. *ANAESTHESIA & INTENSIVE CARE*. AUG 2007;35(4):477-485.
- 64. PRIESTAP FA, MARTIN CM. IMPACT OF INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE TIME ON PATIENT OUTCOME. *CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE*. 2006;34(12):2946-2951.
- 65. RANZANI OT, PRADA LF, ZAMPIERI FG, ET AL. FAILURE TO REDUCE C-REACTIVE PROTEIN LEVELS MORE THAN 25% IN THE LAST 24 HOURS BEFORE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE PREDICTS HIGHER IN-HOSPITAL MORTALITY: A COHORT STUDY. *J CRIT CARE*. OCT 2012;27(5):525 E529-515.
- 66. REINI K, FREDRIKSON M, OSCARSSON A. THE PROGNOSTIC VALUE OF THE MODIFIED EARLY WARNING SCORE IN CRITICALLY ILL PATIENTS: A PROSPECTIVE, OBSERVATIONAL STUDY. 2012; 3:152-157. AVAILABLE AT:

HTTP://OVIDSP.OVID.COM/OVIDWEB.CGI?T=JS&PAGE=REFERENCE&D=MED L&NEWS=N&AN=22273831. ACCESSED EMS, 8411711, 29.

- 67. RENTON J, PILCHER DV, SANTAMARIA JD, ET AL. FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED RISK OF READMISSION TO INTENSIVE CARE IN AUSTRALIA. *INTENSIVE CARE MED.* NOV 2011;37(11):1800-1808.
- 68. RUBINS HB, MOSKOWITZ MA. DISCHARGE DECISION-MAKING IN A MEDICAL INTENSIVE CARE UNIT. IDENTIFYING PATIENTS AT HIGH RISK OF UNEXPECTED DEATH OR UNIT READMISSION. *AMERICAN JOURNAL OF MEDICINE*. MAY 1988;84(5):863-869.
- 69. SAKR Y, VINCENT J, RUOKONEN E, ET AL. SEPSIS AND ORGAN SYSTEM FAILURE ARE MAJOR DETERMINANTS OF POST-INTENSIVE CARE UNIT MORTALITY. JOURNAL OF CRITICAL CARE. 2008;23(4):475-483.
- 70. SILVA MCMD, SOUSA RMCD, PADILHA KG. FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH DEATH AND READMISSION INTO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT. 2011; 4:911-919. AVAILABLE AT: <u>HTTP://OVIDSP.OVID.COM/OVIDWEB.CGI?T=JS&PAGE=REFERENCE&D=MED</u> L&NEWS=N&AN=21876943. ACCESSED BXX, 9420934, 19.

- 71. SILVESTRE J, COELHO L, PÓVOA P. SHOULD C-REACTIVE PROTEIN CONCENTRATION AT ICU DISCHARGE BE USED AS A PROGNOSTIC MARKER? *BMC ANESTHESIOLOGY.* 2010;10:6P.
- 72. SMITH L, ORTS CM, O'NEIL I, BATCHELOR AM, GASCOIGNE AD, BAUDOUIN SV. TISS AND MORTALITY AFTER DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. OCT 1999;25(10):1061-1065.
- 73. SONG S-W, LEE H-S, KIM J-H, KIM MS, LEE JM, ZO JI. READMISSION TO INTENSIVE CARE UNIT AFTER INITIAL RECOVERY FROM MAJOR THORACIC ONCOLOGY SURGERY. *ANNALS OF THORACIC SURGERY*. DEC 2007;84(6):1838-1846; DISCUSSION 1838-1846.
- 74. STRAUSS MJ, LOGERFO JP, YELTATZIE JA, TEMKIN N, HUDSON LD. RATIONING OF INTENSIVE CARE UNIT SERVICES. AN EVERYDAY OCCURRENCE. JAMA. MAR 7 1986;255(9):1143-1146.
- 75. TIMMERS TK, VERHOFSTAD MH, MOONS KG, LEENEN LP. PATIENTS' CHARACTERISTICS ASSOCIATED WITH READMISSION TO A SURGICAL INTENSIVE CARE UNIT. *AM J CRIT CARE*. NOV 2012;21(6):E120-128.
- 76. TIRKKONEN J, OLKKOLA KT, HUHTALA H, TENHUNEN J, HOPPU S. VITAL DYSFUNCTIONS AFTER INTENSIVE CARE DISCHARGE: PREVALENCE AND IMPACT ON PATIENT OUTCOME. *ACTA ANAESTHESIOL SCAND.* JAN 2013;57(1):56-62.
- 77. TOBIN AE, SANTAMARIA JD. AFTER-HOURS DISCHARGES FROM INTENSIVE CARE ARE ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED MORTALITY. *MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA*. APR 3 2006;184(7):334-337.
- 78. UTZOLINO S, KAFFARNIK M, KECK T, BERLET M, HOPT UT. UNPLANNED DISCHARGES FROM A SURGICAL INTENSIVE CARE UNIT: READMISSIONS AND MORTALITY. *J CRIT CARE*. SEP 2010;25(3):375-381.
- 79. UUSARO A, KARI A, RUOKONEN E. THE EFFECTS OF ICU ADMISSION AND DISCHARGE TIMES ON MORTALITY IN FINLAND. *INTENSIVE CARE MEDICINE*. DEC 2003;29(12):2144-2148.
- 80. VOHRA HA, GOLDSMITH IRA, ROSIN MD, BRIFFA NP, PATEL RL. THE PREDICTORS AND OUTCOME OF RECIDIVISM IN CARDIAC ICUS. *EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CARDIO-THORACIC SURGERY*. MAR 2005;27(3):508-511.
- 81. YIP B, HO K. EOSINOPENIA AS A PREDICTOR OF UNEXPECTED RE-ADMISSION AND MORTALITY AFTER INTENSIVE CARE UNIT DISCHARGE. *ANAESTH INTENSIVE CARE*. MAR 2013;41(2):231-241.
- 82. YOON KB, KOH SO, HAN DW, KANG OC. DISCHARGE DECISION-MAKING BY INTENSIVISTS ON READMISSION TO THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT. *YONSEI MED J.* APR 30 2004;45(2):193-198.
- 83. HOSEIN FS, BOBROVITZ N, BERTHELOT S, ZYGUN DA, GHALI WA, STELFOX HT. A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF TOOLS FOR PREDICTING SEVERE ADVERSE EVENTS FOLLOWING PATIENT DISCHARGE FROM INTENSIVE CARE UNITS. *CRIT CARE*. MAY 29 2013;17(3):R102.

- 84. BERENHOLTZ SM, DORMAN T, NGO K, PRONOVOST PJ. QUALITATIVE REVIEW OF INTENSIVE CARE UNIT QUALITY INDICATORS. *J CRIT CARE*. MAR 2002;17(1):1-12.
- 85. ELTING LS, MARTIN CG, CANTOR SB, RUBENSTEIN EB. INFLUENCE OF DATA DISPLAY FORMATS ON PHYSICIAN INVESTIGATORS' DECISIONS TO STOP CLINICAL TRIALS: PROSPECTIVE TRIAL WITH REPEATED MEASURES. *BMJ.* 1999-06-05 00:00:00 1999;318(7197):1527-1531.
- 86. MCGETTIGAN P, SLY K, O'CONNELL D, HILL S, HENRY D. THE EFFECTS OF INFORMATION FRAMING ON THE PRACTICES OF PHYSICIANS. *J GEN INTERN MED.* OCT 1999;14(10):633-642.
- 87. ABEREGG SK HE, TERRY PB:. OMISSION BIAS AND DECISION MAKING IN PULMONARY AND CRITICAL CARE MEDICINE. *CHEST*. SEP 2005;128(3):1497-1505.
- 88. KRUSE JA, THILL-BAHAROZIAN MC, CARLSON RW. COMPARISON OF CLINICAL ASSESSMENT WITH APACHE II FOR PREDICTING MORTALITY RISK IN PATIENTS ADMITTED TO A MEDICAL INTENSIVE CARE UNIT. *JAMA*. SEP 23-30 1988;260(12):1739-1742.
- 89. MCGINN TG, GUYATT GH, WYER PC, ET AL. USERS' GUIDES TO THE MEDICAL LITERATURE - XXII: HOW TO USE ARTICLES ABOUT CLINICAL DECISION RULES. *JAMA-J. AM. MED. ASSOC.* JUL 2000;284(1):79-84.
- 90. COOPER AB, SIBBALD R, SCALES DC, ROZMOVITS L, SINUFF T. SCARCITY: THE CONTEXT OF RATIONING IN AN ONTARIO ICU. *CRIT CARE MED.* JUN 2013;41(6):1476-1482.
- 91. SINGER AJ, THODE HC, JR., VICCELLIO P, PINES JM. THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN LENGTH OF EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT BOARDING AND MORTALITY. *ACAD EMERG MED.* DEC 2011;18(12):1324-1329.
- 92. BAKER-MCCLEARN D, CARMEL S. IMPACT OF CRITICAL CARE OUTREACH SERVICES ON THE DELIVERY AND ORGANIZATION OF HOSPITAL CARE. *J HEALTH SERV RES POLICY*. JUL 2008;13(3):152-157.
- 93. CAMPELLO G, GRANJA C, CARVALHO F, DIAS C, AZEVEDO LF, COSTA-PEREIRA A. IMMEDIATE AND LONG-TERM IMPACT OF MEDICAL EMERGENCY TEAMS ON CARDIAC ARREST PREVALENCE AND MORTALITY: A PLEA FOR PERIODIC BASIC LIFE-SUPPORT TRAINING PROGRAMS. *CRIT CARE MED.* DEC 2009;37(12):3054-3061.
- 94. OFFNER PJ, HEIT J, ROBERTS R. IMPLEMENTATION OF A RAPID RESPONSE TEAM DECREASES CARDIAC ARREST OUTSIDE OF THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT. *THE JOURNAL OF TRAUMA*. MAY 2007;62(5):1223-1227; DISCUSSION 1227-1228.
- 95. COHEN MD, HILLIGOSS B, KAJDACSY-BALLA AMARAL AC. A HANDOFF IS NOT A TELEGRAM: AN UNDERSTANDING OF THE PATIENT IS CO-CONSTRUCTED. *CRIT CARE*. 2012;16(1):303.
- 96. ETESSE B, JABER S, MURA T, ET AL. HOW THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN GENERAL PRACTITIONERS AND INTENSIVISTS CAN BE

IMPROVED: THE GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' POINT OF VIEW. *CRIT CARE*. 2010;14(3):R112.

- 97. JASIAK KD, MIDDLETON EA, CAMAMO JM, ERSTAD BL, SNYDER LS, HUCKLEBERRY YC. EVALUATION OF DISCONTINUATION OF ATYPICAL ANTIPSYCHOTICS PRESCRIBED FOR ICU DELIRIUM. *J PHARM PRACT*. JUN 2013;26(3):253-256.
- 98. ONG MS, COIERA E. A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF FAILURES IN HANDOFF COMMUNICATION DURING INTRAHOSPITAL TRANSFERS. JOINT COMMISSION JOURNAL ON QUALITY AND PATIENT SAFETY / JOINT COMMISSION RESOURCES. JUN 2011;37(6):274-284.
- 99. CURTIS JR, PATRICK DL, SHANNON SE, TREECE PD, ENGELBERG RA, RUBENFELD GD. THE FAMILY CONFERENCE AS A FOCUS TO IMPROVE COMMUNICATION ABOUT END-OF-LIFE CARE IN THE INTENSIVE CARE UNIT: OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT. *CRIT CARE MED*. FEB 2001;29(2 SUPPL):N26-33.
- 100. SODERSTROM IM, SAVEMAN BI, BENZEIN E. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN FAMILY MEMBERS AND STAFF IN INTENSIVE CARE UNITS--AN OBSERVATION AND INTERVIEW STUDY. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF NURSING STUDIES*. AUG 2006;43(6):707-716.
- 101. MYHREN H, EKEBERG O, STOKLAND O. SATISFACTION WITH COMMUNICATION IN ICU PATIENTS AND RELATIVES: COMPARISONS WITH MEDICAL STAFFS' EXPECTATIONS AND THE RELATIONSHIP WITH PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS. *PATIENT EDUCATION AND COUNSELING.* NOV 2011;85(2):237-244.
- 102. WALL RJ, CURTIS JR, COOKE CR, ENGELBERG RA. FAMILY SATISFACTION IN THE ICU: DIFFERENCES BETWEEN FAMILIES OF SURVIVORS AND NONSURVIVORS. *CHEST*. NOV 2007;132(5):1425-1433.

APPENDIX A: SAMPLE SEARCH STRATEGY

- 1. exp Intensive Care Units/
- 2. exp Intensive Care/ or exp Critical Care/
- 3. exp Critical Illness/
- 4. special care unit.tw.
- 5. close attention unit.tw.
- 6. intensive care department.tw.
- 7. intensive care units.tw.
- 8. respiratory care unit.tw.
- 9. intensive care.tw.
- 10. critical care.tw.
- 11. icu.tw.
- 12. icu.tw.
- 13. exp Patient Discharge/
- 14. exp Patient Transfer/
- 15. (patient adj5 discharg*).tw.
- 16. (discharg* adj5 planning).tw.
- 17. patient dumping.tw.
- 18. intrahospital transfer.tw.
- 19. discharge.tw.
- 20. exp Patient Readmission/
- 21. exp Patient Readmission/
- 22. Readmission.tw.
- 23. (Patient adj5 readm*).tw.
- 24. (Unit adj8 readm*).tw.
- 25. (Unplan* adj5 adm*).tw.
- 26. exp Hospital Mortality/ or exp Mortality/
- 27. death rate*.tw.
- 28. mortality determinant.tw.
- 29. differential mortalit*.tw.
- 30. age-specific death rates.tw.

- 31. mortality decline.tw.
- 32. premature mortality.tw.
- 33. case fatality rate.tw.
- 34. in-hospital mortal*.tw.
- 35. inhospital mortal*.tw.
- 36. hospital mortal*.tw.
- 37. exp Death, Sudden/
- 38. exp Death, Sudden, Cardiac/
- 39. exp Hospital Rapid Response Team/
- 40. rapid response team.tw.
- 41. cardiac crash team.tw.
- 42. code team*.tw.
- 43. team code.tw.
- 44. medical emergency team.tw.
- 45. medical care team.tw.
- 46. health care team.tw.
- 47. healthcare team.tw.
- 48. exp Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation/
- 49. Code blue.tw.
- 50. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12
- 51. 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19
- 52. (unplan* adj5 admi*).tw.
- 53. 21 or 22 or 23 or 24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35 or 36
- or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 48 or 49 or 52
- 54. 50 and 51 and 53

APPENDIX B: LIST OF RISK FACTORS WITH MULTIVARIATE ESTIMATES

A .4	D.1 E.			N 14	D 1		Lower	Upper
Author	Risk Factor	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	CI	CI
Fernandez 2006	APACHE II	Per point	1159	1.01			1.00	1.03
Campbell 2008	APACHE II	Per point	4376	1.06			1.04	1.08
Laupland 2008	APACHE II	Per point	17864	1.06			1.05	1.07
Priestap 2006	APACHE II	Per point	47062	1.10			1.09	1.10
Tobin 2006	APACHE II	Per point	10963	1.14			1.12	1.16
Campbell 2008	APACHE II	Per point	4376		1.03		1.01	1.05
Fortis 2004	APACHE II	Per point	86		1.03		0.23	4.68
Frost 2010	APACHE II	Per point	14952		1.20		1.07	1.23
Timmers 2012	APACHE II	Per point	1682		1.02		0.97	1.07
Al-Subaie 2010	APACHE II	Per point at A/D	1185			1.06	1.02	1.10
Chursch 2008	APACHE II	Per point	8222			2.69*		
Yip 2013	APACHE II	Per 10% inc in mortality	1446		1.04		0.94	1.17
Hanane 2008	APACHE III	Predicted mortality	11659	1.04			1.04	1.05
Pilcher 2007	APACHE III	Predicted mortality	76690	1.04			1.04	1.04
Kaben 2008	SAPS II	Per point at A/D	2852	1.02			1.01	1.04
Sakr 2008	SAPS II	Per point	1729	1.04			1.03	1.06
Laupland 2012	SAPS II	Per point	7380	1.03			1.02	1.03
Azoulay 2004	SAPS II	Per point	1385	1.16			1.02	1.31
Renton 2011	SAPS II	Per point	247103		1.02		1.01	1.02
Ouanes 2011	SAPS II	Per point	3462			1.02	1.01	1.03
Azoulay 2003	SOFA	Per point at D/C	1385	1.11			1.03	1.18
Laupland 2012	SOFA	Per point at D/C	7380	1.19			1.14	1.23
Reini 2012	SOFA	Per point	518	1.32			1.23	1.41
Ranzani 2012	SOFA	Per point	409	1.22			1.06	1.41
Moreno 2001	SOFA	Per point	2958	1.30			1.10	1.53
Kaben 2008	SOFA	Per point	2852		1.03		0.99	1.17
Но 2007	SOFA	Change in SOFA	603	1.30			1.08	1.57
Ouanes 2011	SOFA	Per point	3462			1.20	1.10	1.30
Yip 2013	SOFA	Per point at D/C	1446		1.01		0.92	1.11
Fortis 2004	TISS-28	>14 vs <8	86	3.861			1.39	10.70
Fortis 2004	TISS-28	8-13 vs <8	86	1.197			1.05	1.38
Campbell 2008	TISS-76	Per point at D/C	4376	1.01			1.00	1.02
Campbell 2008	TISS-76	Per point at D/C	4376		1.01		1.00	1.02
Reini 2012	SAPS III	per point	518	1.09			1.07	1.11
Timmers 2012	SAPS III	per point	1682		1.00		0.97	1.03

A .1					D 1		Lower	Upper
Author	Risk Factor	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	CI	CI
Hanane 2008	Out of hours	Nighttime	11659	1.05			0.64	1.70
	Discharge							
Goldfrad 2000	Out of hours	Nighttime	12748	1.18			0.90	1.56
	Discharge							
Laupland 2008	Out of hours	Nighttime	17864	1.20			1.01	1.41
	Discharge							
Priestap 2006	Out of hours	Nighttime	47062	1.22			1.10	1.36
	Discharge							
Pilcher 2007	Out of hours	Nighttime	76690	1.42			1.32	1.52
	Discharge							
Tobin 2006	Out of hours	Nighttime	10963	1.63			1.37	3.18
	Discharge							
Laupland 2012	Out of hours	Nighttime	7380	1.54			1.12	2.11
	Discharge							
Duke 2004	Out of hours	Nighttime	1870	1.7*			1.03	2.90
	Discharge							
Kaben 2008	Out of hours	Nighttime	2852		0.98		0.74	1.22
	Discharge							
Beck 2002	Out of hours	Nighttime	1654		1.7		1.28	2.25
	Discharge							
Yip 2013	Out of hours	Nighttime	1446		0.69		0.42	1.12
	Discharge							
Ouanes 2011	Out of hours	Nighttime	3462			2.50	1.30	4.90
	Discharge							
Brown 2012	Out of hours	Nighttime	196202		1.20		1.05	1.37
	Discharge							
Chursch 2009	Out of hours	Nighttime	8222			0.69*	0.43	1.11
	Discharge							
Uusaro 2003	Out of hours	Out of hours	20636	0.89			0.73	1.07
	Discharge							
Renton 2011	Out of hours	Out of hours	247103		1.13		1.08	1.19
	Discharge							
Frost 2010	Out of hours	Out of hours	14952		1.20		1.04	1.36
	Discharge							
Laupland 2008	Out of hours	Out of hours	17864	1.09			0.81	1.47
	Discharge							

A .1	D.1 F.		D (1)	M 15	D 1	0 1: 1	Lower	Upper
Author	Risk Factor	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	CI	CI
Kaben 2008	Out of hours	Out of hours	2852		0.94		0.76	1.16
	Discharge							
Laupland 2008	Out of hours	Weekend	17864	0.81			0.67	0.98
	Discharge							
Uusaro 2003	Out of hours	Weekend	20636	1.11			0.93	1.31
	Discharge							
Kaben 2008	Out of hours	Weekend	2852		0.84		0.61	1.34
	Discharge							
Laupland 2008	Out of hours	Weekend Nightime	17864	1.35			1.05	1.73
	Discharge							
Laupland 2012	Out of hours	Weekend	7380	1.26			0.80	2.00
	Discharge							
Laupland 2012	Out of hours	Weekend	7380	1.41			0.84	2.35
	Discharge							
Laupland 2012	Weekday discharge	Thursday	7380	0.80			0.53	1.21
Laupland 2012	Weekday discharge	Wed	7380	0.91			0.60	1.36
Laupland 2012	Weekday discharge	Tuesday	7380	0.99			0.66	1.48
Laupland 2012	Weekday discharge	Friday	7380	1.45			1.01	2.10
Azoulay 2004	Age	per year	1872	1.02			1.01	1.03
Campbell 2008	Age	per year	4376	1.03			1.02	1.04
Но 2007	Age	per year	603	1.03			0.99	1.06
Priestap 2006	Age	per year	47062	1.04			1.04	1.05
Sakr 2008	Age	per year	1729	1.04			1.02	1.06
Uusaro 2003	Age	per year	20636	1.04			1.01	1.07
Fernandez 2006	Age	per year	1159	1.05			1.03	1.07
Fortis 2004	Age	per year	86	1.054			1.00	1.11
Daly 2001	Age	per year	5475	1.70			1.68	1.72
Campbell 2008	Age	per year	4376		1.01		0.99	1.02
Chen 1998	Age	per year	5127		1.01		1.00	1.02
Frost 2010	Age	per year	14 952		1.01		1.00	1.01
Metniz 2003	Age	per year	15180		1.01		1.00	1.01
Kaben 2008	Age	per year	2852		1.01		1.00	1.02
Laupland 2008	Age	per year	17864		1.03		1.03	1.04
Al-Subaie 2010	Age	per year	1185			1.02	1.01	1.04
Ranzani 2012	Age	per year	409	1.04			1.02	1.05
Reini 2012	Age	per year	518	1.06			1.04	1.08
Author	Pick Factor	Pick Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Pandmission	Combined	Lower	Upper
----------------	---------------------	-------------------------	---------------	-----------	--------------	----------	-------	-------
Autio	KISK Pactor	Kisk Pactor Definition	r atients (#)	Wortanty	Readinission	Comonied	CI	CI
Timmers 2012	Age	per year	1682		1.01		1.00	1.03
Yip 2013	Age	per year	1446		1.00		0.99	1.02
Fortis 2004	Male		86	0.230			0.05	1.15
Priestap 2006	Male		47062	1.17			1.10	1.26
Campbell 2008	Male		4376	1.23			0.98	1.54
Laupland 2012	Male		7380	1.30			1.02	1.65
Frost 2010	Male		14952		1.10		0.95	1.25
Litmathe 2009	Male		3374		1.30		0.70	1.90
Metniz 2003	Male		15180		1.36		1.17	1.59
Campbell 2008	Male		4376		1.38		0.96	1.99
Chursch 2009	Male		8222			1.01*	0.82	1.24
Timmers 2012	Male		1682		0.97		0.66	1.42
Yip 2013	Female		1446		0.75		0.47	1.18
Campbell 2008	LOS	per day	4376	1.04			1.00	1.09
Daly 2001	LOS	per day	5475	1.05			1.02	1.08
Renton 2011	LOS	per day	247103		1.02		1.02	1.02
Campbell 2008	LOS	per day	4376		1.05		1.00	1.10
Gajic 2008	LOS	per day	1242		1.44		1.14	1.87
Brown 2012	LOS	per day	196202		1.00		0.91	1.09
Rosenburg 2001	LOS	>7days	3310		1.40		0.97	2.03
Litmathe 2009	LOS	> 3 days	3374		2.10		1.40	2.60
Joakowaik 2013	LOS	>3 days	7105		3.61		2.35	5.62
Frost 2010	LOS	>7days	14952		2.20		1.85	2.56
Chursch 2009	LOS	LOS>10 days vs.<3 days	8222			2.22*		
Chursch 2009	LOS	LOS 3-10days vs.<3 days	8222			1.72*		
Campbell 2008	Respiratory Support	Days of MV	4376	0.97			0.92	1.03
Campbell 2008	Respiratory Support	Days of MV	4376		0.96		0.91	1.02
Kaben 2008	Respiratory Support	Days of MV	2852		1.02		1.05	0.98
Brown 2012	Respiratory Support	Days of MV	196202		1.12		1.02	1.23
Metniz 2003	Respiratory Support	MV last day ICU	15180		3.00		3.89	2.31
Gajic 2008	Respiratory Support	MV or not	1242		2.149		1.01	4.58
Litmathe 2009	Respiratory Support	> 24 hours MV	3374		3.20		2.20	4.50
Song 2007	Respiratory Support	> 5 days MV	1087		7.86		2.38	26.00
Bardell 2003	Respiratory Support	> 24 hours MV	2117		10.52		6.18	17.91
Joakowaik 2013	Respiratory Support	MV	7105		1.58		1.27	1.91
Metniz 2003	Respiratory Support	MV last day ICU	15180		1.72		2.06	1.43

Author	Disk Faator	Dick Easter Definition	Potionts (#)	Mortality	Paadmission	Combined	Lower	Upper
Autior	KISK Factor	Risk Factor Demittion	Patients (#)	Monanty	Readmission	Combined	CI	CI
Timmers 2012	Respiratory Support	MV	1682		1.79		1.03	3.11
Joakowaik 2013	Respiratory Support	MV	7105		2.39		1.93	2.90
Tobin 2006	Cardiac surgery		10963	0.08	28827.00		0.05	0.13
Laupland 2008	Cardiac surgery		17864	0.14			0.11	0.17
Litmathe 2009	Cardiac surgery		3374		2.90		2.10	3.70
Kaben 2008	Cardiac surgery		2852		0.71		0.44	1.15
Joakowaik 2013	Cardiac surgery		7105		1.41		1.21	1.65
Daly 2001	Cardiac surgery		5475	0.12			-0.41	0.65
Chursch 2009	Cardiac surgery		8222			0.4*	0.07	0.23
Priestap 2006	ER Admission	ER Admission	47062	0.62	123752.00		0.57	0.67
Pilcher 2007	ER Admission	ER Admission	76690	1.53			1.40	1.68
Kaben 2008	ER Admission	ER Admission	2852	17804.00	1.51		0.59	3.84
Frost 2010	ER Admission	ER Admission	14952		1.50		1.27	1.83
Kramer 2011	ER Admission	ER Admission	229961		0.88		x	x
Azoulay 2004	Infection	Hospital-acquired infection	1872	1.65	3601.00		1.14	2.37
Sakr 2008	Infection	Sepsis	1729	2.30			1.51	3.49
Kaben 2008	Infection	Sepsis	2852		1.18		0.73	1.90
Chursch 2009	Infection	Sepsis	8222			1.66*		
Laupland 2012	Infection	Sepsis	7380	1.76			1.20	2.56
Song 2007	Renal failure	CRRT	1087	3.61			1.10	11.90
Litmathe 2009	Renal failure	CRRT	3374	18326.00	2.20		1.00	3.10
Frost 2010	Renal failure		14952		1.60		0.97	2.47
Kramer 2011	Renal failure	CRRT	229961		1.17			
Kramer 2011	GCS	A/D GCS 3 to 6 vs 15	229961		0.88			
Kramer 2011	GCS	A/D GCS 7 to 10 vs 15	229961		0.91			
Kramer 2011	GCS	A/D GCS 11 to 14 vs 15	229961		1.02			
Kramer 2011	GCS	D/C GCS 3 to 6 vs 15	229961		0.49			
Kramer 2011	GCS	D/C GCS 7 to 10 vs 15	229961		0.79			
Kramer 2011	GCS	D/C GCS 11 to 14 vs 15	229961		1.11			
Gajic 2008	GCS	Discharge GCS	1242	0.81			0.75	0.88
Azoulay 2003	DNR		1385	9.64	13044.00		5.75	16.16
Hanane 2008	DNR		11659	3.28			2.65	4.06
Rosenburg 2001	DNR		3310		0.30		0.26	0.72
Brown 2012	DNR		196202		1.82		1.53	2.17
Duke 2004	DNR		1870	5.1*			2.20	12.00
Laupland 2012	DNR		7380	4.55			3.34	6.20

A	Dista Franta a	Dista Francis Definition	Detiente (#)	Mantality	Destudiation	Combined	Lower	Upper
Author	RISK Factor	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	CI	CI
Kaben 2008	Transfer from		2852	6162.00	0.60		0.47	3.05
	another hospital							
Rosenburg 2001	Transfer from		3310		1.70		1.30	2.30
	another hospital							
Priestap 2006	Transfer from		47062	0.61			0.52	0.72
	another hospital							
Kramer2011	Transfer from		229961		1.28			
	another hospital							
Litmathe 2009	Diabetes	Diabetes	3374	6226.00	1.50		1.00	1.70
Kaben 2008	Diabetes	Diabetes	2852		1.47		0.99	2.16
Kramer 2011	Diabetes	Diabetes	229961		1.03			
Yip 2013	Diabetes		1446		2.97		1.33	6.65
Fernandez 2010	Readmission		1159	5.7			3.70	8.80
Renton 2011	Readmission		247103	5.43			5.14	5.74
Brown 2012	Emergent Surgery	Emergent Surgery	196202		1.10		1.01	1.21
Litmathe 2009	Emergent Surgery	Surgical reexploration	3374		2.70		1.50	3.70
Timmers 2012	Emergent Surgery	Emergency vs elective	1682		0.89		0.54	1.47
		surgery						
Joakowaik 2013	Emergent Surgery	Surgical re-exploration	7105		2.02		1.65	2.41
Brown 2012	Chronic Renal		196202		1.24		1.10	1.39
	Failure							
Kaben 2008	Chronic Renal		2852		1.17		0.72	1.91
	Failure							
Timmers 2012	Chronic Renal		1682		0.63		0.17	2.49
	Failure							
Joakowaik 2013	Chronic Renal		7105		1.32		1.12	1.53
	Failure							
Yip 2013	Chronic Renal		1446		0.89		0.33	2.42
	Failure							
Brown 2012	Discharge to		196202		1.37		1.29	1.44
	HDU/step down unit							
Joakowaik 2013	Discharge to		7105		1.29		1.09	1.44
	HDU/step down unit							
Yip 2013	Cancer	Leukemia/myeloma	1446		0.56		0.06	4.90
Yip 2013	Cancer	Lymphoma	1446		0.02		0.01	9.90
Yip 2013	Cancer	Metastatic ca	1446		2.87		0.59	13.90

Author	Risk Factor	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	Lower	Upper
				,			CI	CI
Kaben 2008	Cancer	Cancer	2852		1.05		0.63	1.76
Sakr 2008	Cancer	Hematologic cancer	1729	3.70			1.52	9.10
Laupland 2012	Cardiovascular	Cardiovascular Disease	7380	1.50			1.04	2.16
	Disease							
Calafiore 2002	Cardiovascular	CHF	1194	13.5			1.50	121.50
	Disease							
Yip 2013	Cardiovascular	Chronic CVD	1446		1.23		0.67	2.29
	Disease							
Litmathe 2009	Cardiovascular	AF	3374		1.70		1.20	1.90
	Disease							
Litmathe 2009	Cardiovascular	Arterial hypertension	3374		1.10		0.80	1.50
	Disease							
Kaben 2008	Cardiovascular	Chronic heart failure	2852		1.13		0.43	2.94
	Disease							
Joakowaik 2013	Cardiovascular	Pulmonary hypertension	7105		1.37		1.16	1.63
	Disease							
Araujo 2012	Co-morbidities	Charlson score (per point)	296	1.20			1.10	1.40
Ranzani 2012	Co-morbidities	Comorbidity	409	1.29			1.03	1.63
Timmers 2012	Co-morbidities	Comorbitiy	1682		1.47		0.85	2.54
Silva 2011	Co-morbidities	Comorbitiy	600		2.97		1.23	7.22
Rosenburg 2001	Co-morbidities	Comorbidity	3310		1.02		1.01	1.03
Renton	Co-morbidities	Comorbidity	247103		1.37		1.31	1.44
Laupland 2012	Chronic Respiratory	Respiratory Disease	7380	1.53			1.11	2.10
	Disease							
Azoulay 2004	Chronic Respiratory	Chronic Respiratory failure	1872	2.18			1.20	3.93
	Disease							
Yip 2013	Chronic Respiratory	Respiratory Disease	1446		1.03		0.42	2.54
	Disease							
Brown 2012	Chronic Respiratory	COPD	196202		1.31		1.19	1.44
	Disease							
Litmathe 2009	Chronic Respiratory		3374		1.60		1.10	2.30
	Disease							
Campbell 2008	Admission from		4376		1.02		1.01	1.02
-	ward							
Campbell 2008	Admission from		4376	1.02			1.01	1.03
	ward							

Author	Diels Featon	Diels Feater Definition	Detients (#)	Montolity	Decomission	Combined	Lower	Upper
Autnor	KISK Factor	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	CI	CI
Ranzani 2012	Admission from		409	2.75			1.50	5.02
	ward							
Timmers 2012	Gastrointestinal		1682		4.21		2.04	8.70
	Surgery							
Kaben 2008	Gastrointestinal		2852		2.60		1.17	5.80
	Surgery							
Yip 2013	Chronic liver disease	Cirrhosis	1446		1.36		0.38	4.86
Rosenburg 2001	Chronic liver disease		3310		2.40		1.83	3.30
Sakr 2008	Chronic liver disease	Cirrhosis	1729	4.70			2.07	10.92
Azoulay 2004	Chronic liver disease	Cirrhosis	1872	1.75			1.00	3.11
Yip 2013	Chronic liver disease	Hepatic Failure	1446		0.02		0.01	10.00
Yip 2013	Immunosuppresive	HIV	1446		0.02		0.01	10.00
	disease							
Yip 2013	Immunosuppresive	Immunosuppressive	1446		0.82		0.23	3.00
	disease	Treatment						
Yip 2013	Immunosuppresive		1446		2.32		0.25	21.50
	disease							
Brown 2012	Immunosuppresive		196202		1.35		1.14	1.61
	disease							
Azoulay 2004	Immunosuppresive	Immunosuppression	1872	1.82			1.28	2.58
	disease							
Litmathe 2009	Postoperative		3374		1.30		1.00	1.70
	myocardial infarction							
Joakowaik 2013	Postoperative		7105		1.63		1.17	2.19
	myocardial infarction							
Araujo 2012	C-reactive protein	≥6 mg/dL	296	2.80			1.40	5.70
Ranzani 2012	C-reactive protein	reduction <25%	409	2.70			1.39	5.29
Но 2007	C-reactive protein	per 10mg/L	603	1.09			1.03	1.16
Azoulay 2005	Trauma		1872	0.85			0.29	2.48
Kaben 2008	Trauma		2852		0.79		0.32	1.92
Chursch 2009	Trauma		8222			0.95*		
Yip 2013	General Surgery		1446		1.10		0.66	1.83
Timmers 2012	General Surgery		1682		1.23		0.46	3.31
Mayr 2006	General Surgery		3347	5.09			3.20	8.20
Timmers 2012	Vascular Surgery		1682		2.91		1.39	6.11
Chursch 2009	Vascular Surgery		8222			0.83*		

Author	Disk Feator	Risk Factor Definition	Patients (#)	Mortality	Readmission	Combined	Lower	Upper
Autior	KISK Factor			Monanty			CI	CI
Timmers 2012	Type of admission	Active treatment	1682		3.96		2.12	7.39
Timmers 2012	Type of admission	High risk monitoring	1682		2.56		1.60	4.09
Ranzani 2012	Shock		409	2.59			1.26	5.36
Calafiore 2002	Shock	Vasoactive drugs	1194		9.6			
Al-Subaie 2010	Shock	Vasoactive drugs	1185					
Azoulay 2004	Shock	Shock	1872		1.46			
Fernandez 2010	Shock	Vasoactive drugs	1159		2.3			
Fernandez 2006	Shock	Vasoactive drugs	1159		2.5			
Ranzani 2012	Hemoglobin at D/C		409	0.78			0.66	0.91
Yip 2013	Esinophenia at D/C		1446		2.50		1.38	4.50
Timmers 2012	Oncological Surgery		1682		2.48		1.16	5.33
Joakowaik 2013	Reintubation		7105		2.01		1.53	2.67
Chursch 2009	Gastrointestinal		8222			2.55*	1.54	4.25
	Disease							
Laupland 2012	Gastrointestinal		7380	1.83			1.30	2.56
	Disease							
Araujo 2012	Tracheostomy		296	3.80			1.80	8.30
Fernandez 2011	Tracheostomy		201				0.30	1.20
Но 2007	White Cell count		603	1.04			0.98	1.09
Yip 2013	White Cell count		1446		0.99		0.95	1.04

*Estimate of Relative Risk

Combined is an outcome comprising of both ICU readmission and post-ICU Mortality

Abbreviations: A/D, Admission; D/C, Discharge

APPENDIX C: ODDS RATIO ESTIMATES FROM TRACER DATABASE

	Combined Readmission and Mortality								
Variable	# outcome	# patients	proportion	OR	95% CI				
Female	1134	9277	0.122	1.22	1.12 - 1.32				
Male	1724	16777	0.103	0.82	0.76 - 0.89				
Admission from Emergency Dept.	736	6395	0.115	1.07	0.98-1.17				
SOI >10% mortality	2773	24896	0.111	1.54	1.24-1.94				
Sepsis/ Infection	581	3949	0.147	1.5	1.36-1.66				
Glucose dysfunction	728	5181	0.141	1.46	1.33-1.6				
Postsurgery AMI	4	31	0.129	1.2	0.3-3.46				
GI Surgery	34	141	0.241	2.6	1.71-3.86				
Acute Renal Failure	707	3106	0.228	2.95	2.68-3.25				
age >65	614	10139	0.061	1.86	1.72-2.01				
LOS > 5days	318	6088	0.052	2.58	2.38-2.8				
		Readr	nission						
Variable	# outcome	# patients	proportion	OR	95% CI				
Female	723	9277	0.078	1.00	0.9-1.11				
Male	1067	16777	0.064	1.00	0.9-1.11				
Admission from	240	6205	0.055	0.81	0.71.0.01				
Emergency Dept.	349	0395	0.055	1.21	0.71-0.91				
SOI >10% mortality	295	24896	0.064	1.21	0.94-1.6				
Sepsis/ Infection	285	3949	0.072	1.17	1.03-1.34				
Glucose dysfunction	409	5181	0.079	1.33	1.18-1.5				
Postsurgery AMI	2	31	0.065	1.01	0.12-4.01				
GI Surgery	23	141	0.163	2.89	1.76-4.57				
Acute Renal Failure	365	3106	0.118	2.28	2.01-2.58				
age >65	811	11139	0.073	1.3	1.18-1.44				
LOS > 5days	743	7088	0.105	2.31	2.08-2.56				
		Mor	tality						
Variable	# outcome	# patients	proportion	OR	95% Cl				
Female	723	9277	0.078	1.39	1.26-1.54				
Male	962	16777	0.057	0.72	0.65-0.8				
Emergency Dept.	480	6395	0.075	1.24	1.11-1.39				
SOI >10% mortality	1655	24896	0.066	2.59	1.82-3.82				
Sepsis/ Infection	407	3949	0.103	1.87	1.66-2.11				
Glucose dysfunction	447	5181	0.086	1.54	1.37-1.73				
Postsurgery AMI	3	31	0.097	1.55	0.30-5.03				
GI Surgery	15	141	0.106	1.73	0.94-2.97				
Acute Renal Failure	491	3106	0.158	3.59	3.19-4.03				
age >65	1083	11139	0.097	2.56	2.31-2.84				
LOS > 5days	836	7088	0.118	2.85	2.58-3.16				
ICU Readmission	485	1661	0.292	7.97	7.05-9.01				

Abbreviations: AMI, Acute Myocardial Infarction; CI, Confidence Interval; GI, Gastrointestinal; Intensive Care unit; LOS, Length of Stay; SOI, Severity of Illness;